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Introduction
The 2018 Annual Report is built around the goals 
outlined in the Teagasc Statement of Strategy. 
Examples of key achievements and developments 
for the Research, Knowledge Transfer and 
Operations directorates are described in the 
context of these goals.
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Mission
To support science-based 
innovation in the agri-food 
sector and wider bioeconomy 
so as to underpin profitability,  
competitiveness and 
sustainability.

Vision
Teagasc wishes to be nationally 
and internationally recognised as 
the knowledge provider of choice 
for Ireland’s agri-food sector.
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The preliminary Teagasc National Farm Survey 
showed that average family farm income in 2018 
declined by 21%, dropping from €29,774 in 2017 to 
€23,483. However, the average on individual farm 
systems continues to vary greatly.

Average family farm income on Cattle Rearing 
farms dipped to an estimated €8,318 in 2018, a 
reduction of 22% on the €10,642 in 2017, with a 
sharp rise in production costs the main driver.  
Cattle Other farms, which comprise a range of 
cattle production systems (e.g. cattle finishers) 
also experienced an income drop, due to higher 
input costs.  Average Cattle Other farm income in 
2018 was €14,408, a reduction of 11% on the 2017 
figure of €16,115.

Dairy farms incurred the largest income 
reductions in 2018, with average dairy farm 
income falling by 31% to €61,273, compared with 
the 2017 level of €88,829.  Concentrate feed use 
increased by almost one-third to over 1,300 kg per 
cow. 

Sheep farms also experienced an income 
reduction in 2018, with higher than normal levels 
of feed and fertiliser use.  Average Sheep farm 
income fell from €17,357 in 2017 to €13,769 in 
2018, a reduction of 21%.

While crop yields on tillage farms were well below 
average annual yields, farmers benefitted from 
a large jump in harvest prices in 2018 relative to 
2017.  In spite of the low yields, this price increase 
was large enough to boost the average income 
on tillage farms in 2018, which was €42,678, an 
increase of 18% on the 2017 figure of €36,048.

Extremes of weather caused acute problems 
for tillage and livestock farmers in 2018 and 
certainly impacted on farm incomes. In spring 

fodder supplies were limited for many farmers as 
restricted production in summer 2017 coincided 
with extremely cold conditions in winter/spring 
2018. Cold and wet conditions delayed tillage crop 
planting until late April and summer drought 
resulted in a reduced growing season and lower 
yields.

Storm Emma in early March necessitated 
the closure of some Teagasc offices for a day. 
Teagasc, working with other agencies, took 
numerous steps to support livestock and 
tillage farmers. Head of the Teagasc Advisory 
Service Dermot McCarthy, acted as Chairman 
of the Interagency Fodder Group established 
by the Department of Agriculture, Food and 
the Marine. Teagasc advisors visited individual 
farms and communicated through discussion 
group meetings with 13,000 farmers assisting 
them to budget silage and meals for their winter 
requirements. Fodder Clinics were held in most of 
the 50 Teagasc offices.

Teagasc also facilitated contacts between farmers 
with surplus forage and those in deficit. A fodder 
and finance budgeting week was held by Teagasc 
staff in October to assist farmers with the cash 
flow and financial budgeting implications of the 
difficult conditions.

In 2018 over €2.1 million was invested in facilities 
at Teagasc Ashtown, including a modern 
glasshouse equipped with advanced systems for 
research, a turf grass academy, a Horticultural 
Utility Building, a large multi-span ‘forestry 
polytunnel’ and additional polytunnels. The other 
primary piece of infrastructure on the Teagasc 
Ashtown site is the Mushroom Research Unit 
which has 100m2 of growing area to support a 
dedicated mushroom research programme. These 
new facilities underline Teagasc’s commitment to 
the horticulture sector.

In accordance with the Code of Practice for 
the Governance of State Bodies 2016, I wish to 
confirm that Teagasc is adhering to the relevant 
aspects of the Public Spending Code.

Another innovation at Teagasc Ashtown is the 
'National Prepared Consumer Foods Centre.' In 
2018 DAFM invested €6.5million in equipment 
and infrastructure at Teagasc Ashtown to develop 
a shared research capability in order to address 
the low levels of R&D in the PCF Sector. The 
Minister for Agriculture Food and the Marine 
(DAFM), Michael Creed T.D., opened the new 
Centre in October.

The VistaMilk SFI Research Centre launched in 
2018 represents a unique collaboration between 
Agri-Food and Information & Communications 

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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Technology (ICT) research institutes and leading 
Irish/multinational food and ICT companies. 
It is co-funded by Science Foundation Ireland 
(SFI) and the Department of Agriculture, 
Food and the Marine (DAFM). The Centre, 
under the directorship of Professor Donagh 
Berry is hosted by Teagasc, in partnership 
with the Irish Cattle Breeding Federation, the 
Tyndall National Institute (UCC), Ireland’s 
National Microelectronics Institute, the 
Telecommunications Software & Systems Group 
(TSSG) at Waterford Institute of Technology and 
the Insight Centre for Data Analytics (UCD). 
Multinational and SME companies in the food 
and ICT sectors are also part of the consortium. 
VistaMilk’s mission is to: “Positively impact the 
environment, animal wellbeing and the health of 
consumers”.

In 2018 there was a lot of change in terms 
of membership of the Teagasc Authority. Mr. 
Padraig Gibbons, Mr. Alan Jagoe and Dr. Karina 
Pierce all completed their terms after making 
very substantial contributions and showing 

exceptional dedication to the Authority. 
Mr. Brendan Gleeson, who also made a very 
positive contribution to the Teagasc Authority, 
resigned on taking up his position as Secretary 
General of the Department of Agriculture, Food 
and the Marine.

I would like, in particular, to acknowledge the 
huge contribution of Dr. Noel Cawley who chaired 
the Teagasc Authority from September 2008 to 
September 2018.

I greatly look forward to working with 
Mr. John Buckley, Mr. Patrick Duffy, 
Professor Thia Hennessy and Ms. Eilís O’Connell 
who were appointed to the Authority by 
Minister for Agriculture, Food and the Marine, 
Michael Creed, T.D. 

In conclusion, I would like to thank Teagasc 
Director Professor Gerry Boyle and all his Teagasc 
colleagues for their for their dedication and 
contribution to the organisation in 2018.

Pictured in Teagasc Moorepark, Fermoy, Co Cork at the launch of the new VistaMilk SFI Research Centre which is jointly 
funded by Science Foundation Ireland (SFI) and DAFM are Liam Herlihy, Teagasc Chairman, Professor Mark Ferguson, 

Director General of Science Foundation Ireland, Michael Creed T.D., Minister for Agriculture, Food & the Marine, 
Professor Donagh Berry, Director of VistaMilk & Professor Gerry Boyle, Teagasc Director. 
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Unusually extreme weather conditions had 
a serious negative impact for both crop and 
livestock farmers in 2018. Fodder shortages were 
severe in many parts of the country. Working 
with colleagues in the Department of Agriculture, 
Food and the Marine and other agencies and 
industry colleagues, the Teagasc advisory service 
responded magnificently to this challenge. 

In addition to local arrangements put in place 
to assist farmers through the fodder difficulties 
(clinics, meetings, farm visits etc.) a national 
helpline phone number was set up whereby 
farmers could phone or text to speak to a Teagasc 
person for assistance, seven days a week. Teagasc 
took a lead in generating several national surveys 
of fodder stocks.

As well as work connected with the fodder crisis 
our national network of 240 Teagasc advisors 
served almost 43,000 clients. There were 18,507 
Teagasc Profit Monitors completed in total during 
2018. This is the highest level ever achieved and 
was boosted by the requirement to complete the 
Teagasc Profit Monitor as part of the Department 
of Agriculture, Food and the Marine Knowledge 
Transfer Group Scheme.

There was steady growth in registered farm 
partnerships in 2018. The numbers have been 
rising at a rate of 410 on average per year since 
2015 when they were opened to all farming 
enterprises. This is a very positive development as 
it indicates structural change within agriculture 
and is supported by the advisory service.

The Agricultural Sustainability Support and 
Advisory Programme (ASSAP) which was 
launched in November 2018 will deliver a free, 
one-to-one, sustainability advisory service 
to more than 5,000 farmers to encourage 

behavioural change, facilitate knowledge transfer 
and achieve better on-farm environmental 
outcomes. Supported by the Department of 
Housing, Planning and Local Government, the 
Department of Agriculture, Food and the Marine 
and by Dairy Industry Ireland, this Programme is 
acknowledged by the EU Commission as "unique 
across Europe."

ASSAP is needed because: water quality has 
remained static; support for farmers is needed 
as well as regulation. Of the 30 new Agricultural 
Sustainability Advisors assigned to the 
programme, 20 are located in Teagasc while 10 
who have undergone the same programme of 
training, will operate within the dairy processors’ 
organisational structures.

Teagasc education colleagues completed an 
extensive consultation and review process into 
future land sector education needs in 2018. They 
concluded that substantial transformation is 
likely across the land sector over the coming 
decades. New skills and capabilities will be 
required and the need for education and training 
across the land sector will intensify. 

The subsequent report, Teagasc Education Vision 
– meeting future needs - was launched at a 
National Education Conference in June. Teagasc 
Head of Education, Tony Pettit outlined key 
themes covered by the report and the conference: 
Teagasc Education Vision recommendations, 
workplace learning, lifelong learning, ‘smart 
agriculture’ implications and gender diversity in 
land sector careers.

2018 was a particularly successful year in terms 
of research funding, with Teagasc securing 
€6.3 million in new funding from Horizon 2020, 
through a competitive process. It is important 
for Teagasc to collaborate with researchers and 
knowledge transfer professionals across Europe 
and EU funding facilitates that. Teagasc has 
reached its target of €19 million from Horizon 
2020 with two years still remaining. This is 1.6 
times the total funding that we secured during 
the full duration of FP7 EU research fund (the 
predecessor of Horizon 2020).

Teagasc was ranked fifth among successful 
applicants for Horizon 2020 Societal Challenge2 
funding.

A major Teagasc report - Analysis of Abatement 
Potential of Greenhouse Gas Emissions in Irish 
Agriculture 2021-2030 - assesses the likely level 
of future GHG emissions if no action is taken to 
address emissions over the period 2021 to 2030. 
The report published in 2018 also highlights 
the potential for GHG abatement based on the 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR
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adoption of current scientific knowledge to limit 
the emissions from the sector. 

The Soil Quality Assessment and Research 
(SQUARE) project (partners include Teagasc, 
DAFM, UL, UCD and IT Sligo) has developed 
the first nationwide inventory of soil quality 
for managed grassland soil in Ireland. SQUARE 
surveyed 180 sites geographically distributed 
across the five major agro-climatic regions of 
Ireland. A number of key soil quality indicators 
were identified that can be used by farmers to 
benchmark soil quality. This work also developed 
a number of on-farm Visual Soil Assessment 
tools for farmers and advisors to evaluate the soil 
quality and health status of individual areas.

Enhancing Knowledge was the theme of BEEF2018 
at Teagasc Grange in June.  The event highlighted 
technologies which help to underpin profitability 
in the  beef sector. The attendance of more than 
7,000 was higher than for BEEF2016.  Main themes 
included: Infrastructure; Sucklers; Calf-to-beef; 
Breeding/  genetics; Grassland. Farm to Fork was 
the theme of the, also hugely popular, Sheep Open 
Day held in Athenry. 

A major Teagasc knowledge transfer and 
research programme, started in 2018, focuses 
on Conservation Agriculture practices in the 
tillage industry. The main focus is on grass weed 
control, identified as one of the main barriers 
preventing farmers practicing Conservation 
Agriculture systems. The project is funded under 
the European Innovation  Partnership with the 
Department of Agriculture, Food and the Marine.

Research has been initiated by Teagasc colleagues 
on the potential for Continuous Cover Forestry 
(CCF) under Irish conditions. This management 
system will provide an alternative to clear-felling 
on some sites and protocols are being developed 
for Ireland. 

Whether due to weather or market factors, 
volatility is an increasing reality for farmers. ‘An 
evaluation of suitable tools to manage price/ 
income volatility at dairy farm level in Ireland’ 
was launched in September 2018 by economists 
from Teagasc, Cork Institute of Technology 
and University College Cork. The report 
contains an assessment of currently available 
risk management tools including the income 
averaging system.

The Teagasc International Scientific Advisory Board concluded that the Teagasc ‘model’ for delivery of knowledge and innovation 
throughout the food system is something special that should be nurture and widely promoted in the EU and beyond.

From left: Brian Keating, CSIRO, Australia, Mary Bohman, United States Department of Agriculture, Economic Research Service, 
John Kennelly, University of Alberta, Dietrich Knorr, Technische Universität (TU) Berlin, Ian Crute, East Malling Trust / Agriculture 

and Horticulture Development Board, Milena Corredig, Gaylea Foods / University of Guelph.
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A new ‘Pig Farm Managers Course’, the first of 
its kind in Ireland for pig production, offered 
by the Teagasc Pig Development Department, 
commenced in 2018. The new course is offered 
following considerable consultation with key pig 
industry stakeholders. QQI approved the course 
which commenced in September in line with the 
College year; 22 students started the course. 

Teagasc has a role in international development, 
and works closely with Irish Aid. During 2018 we 
broadened our agricultural development funding 
base by securing direct EU project funding 
of €5 million over five years to support the 
development of an efficient and effective dairy 
value chain in Eritrea.

We built new international linkages with 
agricultural research organisations, e.g. Agrosavia 
in Colombia and for the first time, secured the 
active involvement of a Consultative Group for 
International Agricultural Research (CGIAR) 
research centre in one of our overseas projects. 
In 2018 we were invited to present on our 
development activities to the Joint Oireachtas 
Committee on Foreign Affairs and Trade and 
Defence.

Promoting farm health and safety in the farming 
sector is challenging due to the  age structure 
of farmers, their predominantly self-employed 
status and the range of hazards on farms. 
Farmers as an occupational group have an 
inferior health status  and Teagasc promotes 
the 'Total Health' model to enhance both health 
and safety in  an integrated manner in line with 
international best practice.  Teagasc operates 
a joint Prevention Initiative with the Health 
and Safety Authority  and works with state and 
farming bodies to assist farmers to effectively 
manage this  aspect of farm management.

In 2018, out of a total of 39 workplace deaths, 
16 farmers (incl. forestry) died in work related 
accidents, with 10 being aged 65 or older. A 
national survey of farm accidents conducted 
by the Teagasc National Farm Survey (NFS) 
was completed in 2018. This survey found that 

in the period 2012-2017 more than one in ten 
farms experienced an accident and in total 2,814 
accidents occurred. 

By farming system, the survey indicates that 
dairy farms had the highest accident rate of 18% 
over the survey period compared to tillage (12%) 
and sheep (11%) farms with the cattle systems 
of rearing (9%) and finishing (8%) reporting lower 
accident levels. Teagasc undertook a number of 
initiatives to promote health and safety on farms 
in 2018 including events, conferences, renewed 
‘joint initiative with the Health and Safety 
Authority' etc. 

Of note is a publication ‘Positive Mental Health 
in Farming’ a booklet which highlights key issues 
associated with this topic and was produced by 
the Teagasc Rural Development Department in 
conjunction with Mental Health Ireland.

A key development for the Teagasc Food 
Programme in 2018 was the launch of the 
National Prepared Consumer Food Centre at 
Teagasc, Ashtown, which is funded by the 
Department of Agriculture, Food and the Marine. 
This Centre is an important infrastructural 
resource in the context of the Brexit challenge. 

At Teagasc our advisors, educators, researchers 
and support staff of all types are our key assets 
and our People Strategy is key to supporting 
them. In 2018 I was delighted to attend the 
first Teagasc Gender and Diversity Conference, 
an internal event, which was one innovative 
component of the People Strategy in 2018.

Scottish and Irish rural areas face many similar 
challenges, not least of which is the potential 
impact of Brexit. A jointly organised conference 
between SRUC, (Scotland’s Rural College) 
and Teagasc (the Irish Agriculture and Food 
Development Authority) focussed on how the 
two organisations, working together, can identify 
solutions and help create new opportunities for 
rural economies. I am highly optimistic that this 
relationship will develop further and we will hold 
such conferences every two years.
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AUTHORITY MEMBERS
From left:  Mr. Patrick Duffy, Mr. Richard Kennedy, Ms. Cliona Murphy, Mr. Tommy Cooke, Professor Gerald Fitzgerald,
Mr. Joseph Larkin, Mr. Liam Herlihy (Chairman.), Mr. John Buckley, Ms. Eilísh O’Connell, Mr. Liam Woulfe.

Professor Thia Hennessy
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Professor Gerry Boyle
Director

Professor Frank O’Mara
Director of Research

Mr. Tom Doherty
Chief Operating Officer

Professor Tom Kelly
Director of Knowledge Transfer



Annual Report 2018 & Financial Statements

9

THE TEAGASC
AUTHORITY

DIRECTOR

FORESIGHT AND
STRATEGIC

DEVELOPMENT,
AUDIT AND PR

OPERATIONS
DIRECTORATE

KNOWLEDGE
TRANSFER

DIRECTORATE

EDUCATION
PROGRAMME

ADVISORY
PROGRAMME

RESEARCH
DIRECTORATE

FOOD
PROGRAMME

ANIMAL AND
GRASSLAND
RESEARCH &
INNOVATION
PROGRAMME

CROPS ENVIRONMENT
AND LAND USE
PROGRAMME

RURAL ECONOMY
AND DEVELOPMENT

PROGRAMME

HUMAN
RESOURCES,

FINANCE,
ICT

AND OTHER
CORPORATE
FUNCTIONS

ORGANISATIONAL CHART



10

Annual Report 2018 & Financial Statements

OAK PARK

Kinsealy

TEAGASC OFFICES & CENTRES



Annual Report 2018 & Financial Statements

11

Feature article: 
Quantitative Genetics

The mission of the Teagasc quantitative 
geneticists is to generate, deliver and validate 
scientifically-excellent innovation and tools to enable 
rapid and sustainable long-term genetic gain in both 
socially and economically important animal-level 
metrics tailored to different management systems. 

The vision is to ensure the Irish cattle and sheep 
sector remains globally competitive thus realising 
sustainable profit without compromising the 
stewardship bestowed on farmers for both the 
environment and the animals they farm. The 
mission and vision are both achieved through 
significant exchange with the Irish Cattle 
Breeding Federation/Sheep Ireland as well as 
internationally renowned experts in animal 
science, Teagasc extension and education 
specialists, and the end users themselves.  

The end users of the knowledge and tools 
developed are the entire cattle and sheep sectors 

comprised of, but not limited to, Teagasc, breeding 
companies, breeders themselves, farmers, and the 
eventual consumer. 

Breeding goals
While the focus was traditionally on profit per 
unit input, the modern breeding goal of most 
species has expanded to consider also the socially 
responsible demands of the modern consumer; 
such demands include the environment, animal 
well-being, as well as both safe and nutritious 
food. This broadening of breeding goals has been 
mirrored in the widening of the traits considered 
in the Irish national dairy, beef and sheep 
breeding goals but also in a global first national 
multi-breed breeding goal for selecting beef bulls 
for use on dairy cows launched in 2019. 

The national dairy cow breeding goal, the 
Economic Breeding Index (EBI) was introduced 
in 2001 following research by Teagasc and the 
ICBF. Cumulatively, the increased profit potential 
to the dairy sector has been worth €1.72 billion, 
increasing almost linearly per year; whether 
this potential is realised is conditional on 
the concurrent co-evolution of management 
practices. Based on a guesstimate of the research 
and implementation costs to Teagasc and the 
ICBF, this represents a 17:1 return on investment. 

 The gains achieved have also contributed to at 
least a 14% reduction in kg CO2 emissions per kg 
of fat-and-protein corrected milk yield. Massive 

gains in both profit and environmental 
credentials are also possible with the beef 
cattle and sheep breeding goals. Suites of 
traits currently either missing or poorly 
representing in the Irish national breeding 
goals are those relating to product 
quality (i.e., milk and meat), explicit feed 
intake (in dairy and sheep only), explicit 
environmental credentials and both 
animal health and well-being. 

 These are under active research with the 
outputs of the on-going studies leading 
to the deployment of a global first genetic 
evaluation for resistance to liver-fluke 
in 2019, also accompanied by the first 
Irish national genetic evaluation for 
susceptibility to tuberculosis. 

Phenomic tools
For a trait to be considered in a breeding goal it 
must be:

1)  important

2)  exhibit genetic variability

3)  measureable, ideally early in life at a low 
cost or, at the very least, correlated with a 
trait which is measureable. 

Professor Donagh Berry, Teagasc Animal and 
Grassland Research and Innovation Programme



12

Annual Report 2018 & Financial Statements

Phenomics is the study of the set of observable 
characteristics of an animal resulting from the 
interaction between its genetic merit and its 
(past) environment. While ideally data on the 
trait of interest itself is desired, for many reasons 
this is either not possible (e.g., carcass data on 
a candidate parent), too expensive (e.g., product 
quality), or the time lag to measurement is too 
long (e.g., animal survival). 

Notable successes in the area of phenotyping for 
breeding programs developed by Teagasc and ICBF 
is the use of routinely available infrared spectral 
data generated on all milk samples taken globally 
as a predictor of milk quality as well as video 
image analysis of carcasses to predict meat yield. 
Simpler, however, is the now well-recognised 
information captured from subjective scores by 
the producers themselves; these include calving 
and lambing difficulty as well as measures of 
docility and animal quality; 25 to 50% of the traits 
included in the cattle and sheep breeding goals 
are directly reported by farmers. 

A recent application of such traits in national 
breeding goals is the inclusion of health traits 
in the sheep national breeding index in 2018 
following research undertaken by Teagasc 
geneticists. With the growing developments in 
sensing systems and associated internet of things, 
accompanied by downstream analytics, it is likely 
that more granular phenotypes will emerge and, 
if available on sufficient informative animals, 
could constitute some of the emphasis within 
revisions of the national breeding goals. 

Genomic evaluations
Genetic evaluations in all countries and species 
until recently were based on the expected 
relationships among individuals; for example, 
siblings with the same parents are expected 
to share, on average, half their DNA. In reality, 
however, the actual proportion of the DNA shared 
among individuals differs from expectation and, 
in the absence of actual DNA information, it is 
not possible to deduce which half of the DNA an 
animal inherited from a given parent. 

Until recently, the cost of genotyping 
was prohibitively expensive but through 
advancements in genotyping technologies 
coupled with the development of a bespoke 
genotyping platform for Ireland by Teagasc and 
the ICBF, there is now a net benefit of genotyping 
dairy and beef females. In fact, based on the 
current cost of genotyping (€22 per animal for 
cattle), the net monetary benefit of genotyping 
Irish dairy heifers which enables more informed 
selection decisions is >€50 per heifer. The bespoke 
sheep genotype panel developed by Teagasc and 
Sheep Ireland costs €26.50.

Ireland boasts the largest multi-breed cattle 
genotype database in the world (ca. 1.6m 
genotypes) and one of the largest sheep genotype 
database (ca. 22,000 genotypes). The benefit of 
genotyping animals is the increased reliability 
associated with the genetic merit estimates. 
Because each genetic merit value of an animal is 
nothing more than an estimate, the true genetic 
merit of that individual can differ from the 
estimate. 

How much the true genetic merit differs from the 
estimate is a function of the reliability; the higher 
the reliability, the more confidence there is that 
the true and estimated genetic merit are closely 
aligned. Traditionally it took several years and 
thousands of euros to achieve a decent reliability 
for a bull or ram; this is because the animal had 
to reach puberty to produce semen, the resulting 
impregnated female had to undergo gestation 
and, even when the progeny was born, it could be 
several years before they actually expressed the 
performance phenotype. 

Using this approach of progeny testing, the DNA 
merit of the male animal was estimated via its 
progeny because each progeny received a random 
half of his DNA and thus, with sufficient progeny, 
a close to full complement of the DNA of the 
male animal will be observed in its progeny. This 
can be short-circuited by looking directly at the 
DNA of the animal at birth; because the DNA of 
an animal remains the same through life and 
half the DNA is transmitted to each progeny, 
predictions of the expected performance of the 
animal itself and its progeny can be generated. 

In total, 72% of the dairy bull semen used in 
2018 was to genomic sires increasing steadily 
year-on-year since the implementation of 
genomic selection in 2009 following Teagasc 
research on the optimal prediction algorithms 
delivered in bespoke software for use in the 
national genomic evaluations. While much of 
the recent focus on using DNA information in 
breeding is on genomic evaluations, several 
other potential uses exist many of which have 
been researched and deployed by the Teagasc 
geneticists (e.g., parentage panels, breed 
composition prediction, inbreeding, karyotyping, 
sire advice) and others which are under on-going 
research (e.g., precision management). 
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Breeding schemes
While mating the best to the best is one 
approach to achieve genetic gain, because 
of the statistical approaches used in genetic 
evaluations, strong relatedness tends to exist 
among elite animals. Consanguineous matings 
not only result in inbreeding and the associated 
depression in performance, but they tend 
to reduce the extent of genetic variability in 
the population, a feature which is crucial to 
sustainable long-term genetic gain. 

The rates of inbreeding highlighted by Teagasc 
research in cattle necessitated the development 
and implementation of a national dairy cattle 
breeding program based on contract matings. 
The algorithms developed by Teagasc identify 
elite dairy females which are then mated to 
specific genetically elite bulls taking cognisance 
of the genetic diversity within the dams, within 
the sires and between the dams and sires. 
Approximately one third of the dairy bulls 
entering AI in Ireland are from contract matings. 

Decision support
The six national breeding goals in themselves 
represent widely used decision support tools in 
Ireland collapsing information from tens of traits 
into single unit values per animal representing 
the expected profit from the animal itself or its 
progeny. While shifting the mean of a population 
in a given direction is achievable by mating 
animals extreme in performance with unrelated 
animals also excelling in performance, the 
distribution may also be shifted by culling the 
less productive animals. 

This is the fundamental theory underpinning the 
COW index developed by Teagasc and the ICBF 
and launched in 2017. The cow index, which is 
used to rank dairy females on expected lifetime 
profitability, supplements the genetic merit 
estimates of the female with other cow-centric 
non-genetic credentials like cow age, degree 
of heterosis in the animal from crossbreeding, 
and both the most recent and future predicted 
calving date. 

The index is delivered to farmers through the 
ICBF web portal and ranks animals on expected 
remaining lifetime profit. The COW index is 
also used within the national dairy cow sire 
advice system also developed at Teagasc in 
collaboration with the ICBF; this is also deployed 
through the ICBF web portal. The sire advice 
enables farmers to choose which cows will not 
be bred (based on their COW) but it also uses 
linear programming to maximise the expected 
genetic merit of the progeny while constraining 
expected inbreeding levels in the progeny 
concurrent with minimising the expected 
heterogeneity in performance of the progeny. 

Several thousand farmers have used the 
revamped sire advice which now also exploits 
genomic information in the mating advice. An 
additional module to the currently available sire 
advice in dairy cows is currently being developed 
at Teagasc to inform the selection and mating of 
beef bulls on dairy females; the system matches 
the bull to the female using an assortative 
mating strategy that attempts to correct the 
inferior qualities of the dam including the 
capacity to calve unaided, while also maximising 
the expected dairy-beef index value of the calves. 

The all-inclusive approached adopted in Irish 
breeding research ensures that no research or 
recommendation is made in isolation without an 
appreciation of the upstream and downstream 
ramifications. The fundamental framework and 
statistical approaches in breeding are largely 
agnostic to species or breed enabling the Teagasc 
geneticists to optimise breeding programs in 
dairy, beef and sheep through cross-fertilisation 
of knowledge and tools. 

The advantage of breeding over many other 
proposed strategies to sustainably improve profit, 
is that breeding is cumulative and permanent, 
implying that the performance achieved in the 
current generation is a function of past selection 
decisions. This phenomenon usually contributes 
to a very large return on investment in research 
in animal breeding and genetics.
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Goal 1
Improve the competitiveness 
of agriculture, food, and the 
wider bioeconomy
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BEEF
BEEF2018 
Enhancing Knowledge was the theme of BEEF2018 at Teagasc Grange in June. 
The event highlighted technologies which help to underpin profitability in the 
beef sector. The attendance of more than 7,000 was higher than for BEEF2016. 
Main themes included: Infrastructure; Sucklers; Calf-to-beef; Breeding/
genetics; Grassland. A Farmer Forum was addressed by Michael Creed, T.D., 
Minister for Agriculture, Food and the Marine.
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Newford Herd Open Day
The aim of the Newford Herd, Athenry, run in 
conjunction with Dawn Meats, is to generate a 
high profit from a grass-based suckler-to-steer 
and heifer-beef production system. A very large 
attendance at the Open Day in September learned 
about key aspects of the herd strategy including: 
Feeding & Production, Breeding, Health & Safety 
and Animal Health & Genetics.

National Beef Conference
The theme for Teagasc’s 2018 National Beef 
Conference was ‘Addressing the Challenges’ and 
took place in Tullamore, County Offaly.

Agri-benchmark 
‘Beef and sheep farmers around the globe are 
facing a range of severe challenges, including 
growing threat to trade.’ This was one of the main 
findings of the 16th Agri-benchmark Beef and 
Sheep Conference in Galway. It was the first time 
for this prestigious event to take place in Ireland.

BETTER Farm Beef 
Challenge
Farmers in the third phase of the Teagasc/Irish 
Farmers Journal BETTER Farm Beef Challenge 
(sponsors: ABP, Dawn Meats, FBD Trust, Kepak) 
began opening their gates to fellow producers 
in 2018 to demonstrate technical improvements 
and show how they lead to increased profitability 
and more manageable workloads. Gross Margins 
on farms in the programme had increased by 
25% by the end of the first year. The target Gross 
Margin by the end of the programme is €1,250 per 
hectare.

GreenAcres
Phase two of the Teagasc GreenAcres Calf-to-Beef 
Programme began in March 2018 (phase one was 
set up in 2015, also three years, to demonstrate 
profitable dairy calf-to-beef systems through a 
network of ten demonstration farms, supported 

directly by a funded programme advisor, with 
information published monthly.  Phase 2 will be 
funded by Drummonds Ltd., Liffey Mills, MSD 
Animal Health, Volac, Munster Cattle Breeding 
Group and TP Whelehan. 

Teagasc and AHI
Teagasc co-operated with Animal Health Ireland 
to deliver a series of five events nationally 
covering aspects of calf health: 

• The importance of a buying-in protocol.

• Preparation for calving. 

• Preparing for a Bord Bia audit. 

• Parasite control at grass. 

• The Beef Health Check programme. 

Quality Assurance
Teagasc ran five very successful on-farm events 
in conjunction with Bord Bia in 2018. The aim was 
to help farmers to more deeply understand the 
importance of Origin Green in promoting Irish 
beef in our export markets and to explain to them 
how best to pass their Bord Bia Quality Assurance 
Scheme inspection.

Research highlights
Teagasc researchers collected blood samples from 
1,392 beef and 2,090 dairy calves less than six 
months of age from commercial farms in Ireland. 
The objective is to apply the newly identified 
genetic variants (SNPs) to the genomic selection 
breeding programme to breed for improved health 
traits in Irish cattle. 

A total of 413 significant SNPs were identified 
across seven breeds, associated with diseases 
such as scour, pneumonia, joint disease, navel 
infection. Following further investigation and 
validation, these SNPs may be applied in future 
genomic breeding programmes to enhance the 
health status of cattle.

John Kehoe, farmer and chairperson of the Teagasc Beef 
Stakeholders' Group, Tom Coll of Teagasc, Dr. Andrew Cromie, 

ICBF, Dr. Maria Guelbenzu, AHI.

Cork farmer Pat Collins (middle) with  
Sean Cummins and Ruth Fennell of Teagasc
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Wormer Resistance 
Good control depends on effective worming 
products.   All wormers belong to one of 
three classes: benzimidazole; levamisole; or, 
macrocyclic lactone.  When resistance develops 
to one product within a class all products in the 
same class are affected. Researchers at Teagasc, 
Grange tested benzidamole and macrocyclic 
lactone wormers on 16 dairy calf-to-beef farms 
and found the 1-BZ wormer failed on 12 farms, 
while the 3-ML wormer failed on all 16 farms.  
This indicates widespread wormer resistance.
At the Beef 2018 Open Day Teagasc researcher 
Dr. Orla Keane advised farmers to establish which 
wormers are still effective on their farms.

E.coli
Teagasc Ashtown researchers in collaboration 
with DAFM completed the first national baseline 
study on Verocytotoxigenic E.coli (VTEC) at 26 
export beef abattoirs, which was a mandatory 
requirement to maintain U.S. market access and 
will support access to other export markets.

SHEEP
SHEEP 2018
Farm to Fork was the theme of the Sheep Open 
Day held in Athenry. Attractions on the day 
included: sheep breed competitions; sheep breed 
displays, demonstration of sheepdog training, 
and an extensive range of commercial exhibits. 
Technical information on all aspects of sheep 
production was provided by Teagasc researchers, 
advisors and specialists.

Conferences
National Lowland Sheep conferences were held 
in Loughrea and Monaghan, and a National 
Hill Sheep conference was held in Westport. 
‘Achieving more from grass’; meat quality; hidden 
diseases and ewe nutrition were key topics.

Research highlights
In 2018 progeny testing of New Zealand Suffolk 
and Texel rams on commercial farms was begun. 
120 lambs were identified on Teagasc/IFJ BETTER 
farms and brought to Athenry for evaluation. 

Parasites
Experimental work on ectoparasites and 
associated diseases as well as the role of ticks 
as disease vectors has commenced at Teagasc, 
Athenry.

PhD student Nicola Fetherston presenting her work at Sheep 2018.
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DAIRYING
VistaMilk SFI 
Research Centre  
The VistaMilk SFI Research 
Centre launched in 2018 represents a unique 
collaboration between Agri-Food and information 
communications technology (ICT) research 
institutes and leading Irish/multinational food 
and ICT companies. It is funded by Science 
Foundation Ireland (SFI) and the Department of 
Agriculture Food and the Marine (DAFM)

The Centre, under the directorship of Donagh 
Berry is hosted by Teagasc, in partnership 
with the Tyndall National Institute, Ireland’s 
national microelectronics institute, the 
Telecommunications Software & Systems Group 
(TSSG) at Waterford Institute of Technology, 
and the Insight Centre for Data Analytics. 
Multinational and SME companies in the food 
and ICT sectors are also part of the consortium 
(at UCD, NUIG, DCU). VistaMilk’s mission is to: 
‘Positively impact the environment, animal well-
being and the health of consumers. To lead the 
Agri-Food technology sector through innovation 
and enhanced sustainability across the dairy 
supply chain. 

Internationally, the advances developed in the 
Centre will apply to dairy systems in many 
countries and will be a catalyst for global growth 
in the Agri-Tech sector. This will be achieved by 
greatly improving the soil to human gut supply 
chain connectivity, thereby improving resource 
efficiency, better meeting consumers’ expectations 
and improving profitability and resilience.

A joint application for funding submitted by 
Teagasc, Dairygold & Cork County Council 
together with Tyndall and CIT, to Enterprise 
Ireland to construct an Agri-Tech Innovation Hub 
on the Teagasc Kilworth Farm was also successful. 
A grant of €1.9m (versus an overall project cost of 
€2.3m) was awarded and the project will underpin 
the Vista Milk Programme.

Dairy start-up courses 
Dairy start-up courses at level 4 QQI were 
developed by Teagasc Dairy Knowledge Transfer 
staff to encourage profitable low cost conversion 
to dairying. Four courses were delivered in 2018.

Teagasc advisor Martina Gormley with Galway dairy farmers David Gannon and Niall Callanan.
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New joint programme 
Dairygold and Teagasc’s Joint Programme, which 
runs to 2021, follows on from the success of the 
previous programme that saw over 8,500 people 
attend Public & Special Interest Events held over 
the three-year period up to 2017. 

Managing volatility
‘An evaluation of suitable tools to manage price/
income volatility at dairy farm level in Ireland’ 
was launched in September 2018 by economists 
from Teagasc, Cork Institute of Technology 
and University College Cork. The report 
contains an assessment of currently available 
risk management tools including the income 
averaging system. In Budget 2019, the scheme 
eligibility rules relating to off-farm employment 
were removed thereby permitting a much greater 
number of farms to avail of the income averaging 
system.

Ballyhaise 2018 
Ireland’s competitive advantage in milk 
production is based on the efficient production 
and utilisation of pasture. The Teagasc Ballyhaise 
2018 Open Day highlighted the importance of 
adopting farming systems that are resilient to 
external forces, and that incorporate sufficient 
flexibility to overcome unanticipated events.

GRASSLAND  
Grassland Farmer of the 
Year 2018
Fourteen farmer finalists gathered in Teagasc 
Moorepark for the awards. The Grassland 
Farmer of the Year Awards is sponsored by the 
Department of Agriculture, Food and the Marine 
and it is an initiative to support Sustainable 
Farming from Grassland Production.

The overall winners of the Grassland Farmer of 
the Year Award were John and Olivia Macnamara, 
Knockainey, Co Limerick. Now in its second year, 
the Grassland Farmer of the Year awards, with 
an overall prize fund of €30,000, recognises those 
farmers who are achieving high levels of grass 
utilisation in a sustainable manner.

PastureBaseIreland
The number of farm grass covers recorded on 
PastureBase Ireland (PBI) is increasing. Over 500 
farmers completed more than 25 measurements 
in 2018. Just over 1,000 farmers completed more 
than ten measurements. During the main grazing 
season (April to September), between 800 and 
1,200 farm covers were completed weekly. An 
offline PBI app is now available.

Mid-Cork farmer John Keane, Dairygold Chairman, 
John O’Gorman and Tom Kelly Teagasc with Minister 
for Agriculture, Food and the Marine, Michael Creed 

T.D. at the launch of the Dairygold/ Teagasc Joint Farm 
Programme, aimed at helping farmers improve the 

profitability and sustainability of their farms. 
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PIGS
Research dissemination 
Right below: visitors to the Pig Research 
Dissemination Day at Ballyhaise College.

Farm managers  
A new Pig Farm Managers Course, the first of 
its kind in Ireland for pig production, offered 
by the Teagasc Pig Development Department, 
commenced in September 2018. The new course 
is offered following considerable consultation 
with key pig industry stakeholders.

QQI have approved modules in January 2018. The 
course commenced in September in line with the 
College year; 22 students started the course.  
Classes proceeded as planned and the courses have 
enjoyed good attendance and feedback. A number 
of external speakers participated in the courses.

Digi-Pig
Live demos, farms walks and open days are not a 
feasible method of knowledge transfer in the pig 
sector due to the threat to biosecurity. The use of 
digital and visual aids could improve knowledge 
transfer and teaching methods, improving 
farm efficiencies without compromising farm 
biosecurity. The objective of this study is to 
develop several digital and visual tools (e.g. video 
clips, factsheets, pictograms, webinars).

Dr. Laura Boyle, Ger McCutcheon and Maria Costa of Teagasc.
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Conservation Agriculture
A major Teagasc knowledge transfer and research 
programme which was started in 2018 focuses on 
Conservation Agriculture practices in the tillage 
industry. The main focus is on grass weed control, 
identified as one of the main barriers preventing 
farmers practicing Conservation Agriculture systems.  

An advisor will work with a network of 10 farms 
nationally. These farms will be used to demonstrate 
best practice and as research hubs. A researcher will 
also work with these farms to co-develop practical 
solutions to control grass weeds and to establish the 
level of grass weed herbicide resistance across the 
country. The project is funded under the European 
Innovation Partnership with the Department of 
Agriculture, Food and the Marine.

National Potato 
Development Group
Salad or “Baby” potatoes are a growing consumer 
segment (approx. 7-10% + year on year).  A joint 
industry plan involving Teagasc (as the lead), the 
Irish Farmers Association and Bord Bia set about 
increasing Irish production (target 50%) thereby 
achieving import substitution.  The programme 
addressed technical production problems by 
farmers and also market access issues.  After the 

three year programme, production is estimated to 
have increased by over 200% from approx. 3,000t/ 
per year to over 7,000t in 2018. 

Zinc uptake in potatoes
Zinc bio-fortification through agronomic and/
or genetic approaches is one of the strategies 
to enrich food with this essential element in 
order to fulfil nutritional requirements in poor 
diets, particularly in developing countries. A 
Teagasc study has shown that there is scope 
to breed potato varieties for enhanced tuber-
Zn concentration and that most of the Zn is 
efficiently allocated in the tuber at harvest. 

Septoria tritici 
Teagasc research is determining how best to 
ensure Irish winter wheat crops are protected 
against Septoria tritici, a wet weather disease, but 
equally how to manage resistance to current and 
future fungicide chemistries. Teagasc combines 
detailed sensitivity monitoring with an extensive 
programme of field trials throughout the main 
wheat growing regions. 

TILLAGE
Joint Programme
Teagasc entered a joint programme with Boortmalt to help develop the malting 
barley industry.  An advisor employed within the joint programme will help 
growers to deliver an increased tonnage of malting barley for distilling within 
specification to Boortmalt. The project aims to increase the profitability of 
growing malting barley to equal or surpass that from winter wheat.

Teagasc advisors Eoin Lyons and Larry Murphy with Wexford farmer Michael Donnelly.
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FORESTRY
Ash dieback 
First confirmed in Ireland in 2012, this air-borne 
tree disease has caused significant destruction of 
ash trees in continental Europe. Approximately 
20,000 hectares of ash have been planted in Ireland 
over the last three decades. Work is being carried 
out on broadleaf silviculture and ash restocking 
to investigate alternative silviculture in the light 
of ash dieback. This work  and has been used to 
inform DAFM policy and to support forest owners 
and the industry via demonstration days etc.

A research programme is on-going to identify 
resistant trees and develop technologies that will 
support the development of tolerant planting 
material and a breeding population for the future. 
This work has been presented at an international 
conference and in a peer-reviewed paper.

Forestry Promotional 
Campaign 2017-2020
A campaign is underway, with a Forestry Liaison 
Officer in place who is providing training within 
agriculture courses nationwide. Additional 
promotional events are in place to raise awareness 
of the potential of sustainable afforestation 
including open days and education events. An 
event was held on the Inaugural Teagasc-funded 
RDS Farm Forest of the Year winning forest, 
involving national media coverage and the 
production of promotional videos.
Forestry Information meetings were held 
nationwide in spring to promote afforestation and 
the new initiatives launched under the mid-term 
review of the forestry programme, including the 
newly established Forest Knowledge Transfer 
Groups. Forestry advisors supported all the groups.   

Continuous Cover Forestry 
(CCF)
Research has been initiated on the potential for 
CCF under Irish conditions. This management 

system will provide an alternative to clear-felling 
on some sites and protocols are being developed 
for Ireland. This closer-to-nature form of forest 
management may suit some forest owners, with 
a transition stage necessary to move from even-
aged silviculture. Department of Agriculture, Food 
and the Marine funding supports this transition.

Staff Profiles
Majella Maloney 
is currently 
Teagasc Regional 
Manager for Kerry 
and Limerick. A 
native of Listowel 
in county Kerry 
where her family 
were farmers 
Majella attended 
Aberystwyth 
University in 

Wales where she completed a Bachelor  of 
Science in Agriculture (Animal Science) 
degree. Prior to her current role Majella has 
been a Teagasc advisor and Principal of the 
Teagasc College in Clonakilty.
 

Who are my customers?
“As a Regional Manager I have a wide range 
of customers/stakeholders. Personally I see 
Teagasc staff in the region as my customers. 
As a regional team we serve a wide range 
of customers and stakeholders. Farmers, 
Teagasc clients in particular, are key but we 
also serve a range of stakeholders within the 
rural community. This means working not 
only with individuals and groups but also 
other rural organisations such as LEADER. 
Supporting sustainable rural communities 
is beneficial to other stakeholders such as 
tourists and ultimately, tax payers. Kerry 
Agribusiness is both a customer and a 
partner for us and we recently celebrated 
25 years of our Joint Programme supporting 
farmers in the region.”  

Dr. Nuala NiFhlatharta Head of the Forestry Development Unit (fifth from left) with 
colleagues and attendees at a Teagasc Talking Timber event in June 2018.
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HORTICULTURE
New facilities
In 2018 over €2.1 million was invested in facilities at Teagasc Ashtown, including a modern glasshouse 
equipped with advanced systems for research, a turf grass academy, a Horticultural Utility Building, a 
large multi-span ‘forestry polytunnel’ and additional polytunnels.

The other primary piece of infrastructure on the Teagasc Ashtown site is the Mushroom Research Unit 
which has 100m2 of growing area to support a dedicated mushroom research programme.  These new 
facilities underline Teagasc’s commitment to the horticulture sector.

Minister of State at the Department of Agriculture, Food and the Marine, Andrew Doyle, T.D., then Teagasc Chairman 
Dr. Noel Cawley and Teagasc Director Professor Gerry Boyle at the opening of new facilities at Teagasc Ashtown.

Drosophila
The Irish soft fruit sector is one of the most valuable sectors in Irish horticulture.  Since 2015, Teagasc 
in collaboration with UCD, the Irish Soft Fruit sector and Bord Bia have been conducting on farm 
monitoring for the invasive fruit fly, Drosophila suzukii. The data generated have been essential in 
supporting changes in crop management to reduce the impact of this pest as well as the temporary 
registration of new control options. 

Mushroom research
A project investigating lignocellulose aims to identify if inhibitory products are produced during 
compost utilisation and if so, how they operate.  Ultimately, the aim is to generate new knowledge on 
mushroom substrate composition and degradation by agaricus, which may contribute new mushroom 
breeding programmes. 

Cut foliage
New varieties of Eucalyptus have been selected for growth trials. Irradiated Eucalyptus seeds have been 
outplanted to monitor for novel variants. Micropropagation methods have been identified for Eucalyptus 
species. 

Strawberry research 
A new production system for the strawberry cultivar ‘Malling Centenary’ which is fast replacing cultivar 
‘Elsanta’ as the main variety, is a key objective.  The research work will: establish an optimal nutritional 
regime which will potentially reduce fertiliser use; achieve labour savings by increasing the piece  
weight of each fruit; and deliver very high yields of class 1 fruit. The new system may replace the need 
for two crops/year and thereby increasing particularly for those with artificially heated glasshouses.
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KNOWLEDGE TRANSFER 
ADVISORY SERVICES
Peer reviews
The Galway/Clare Advisory Region Peer Review Report and the Peer Review Report of the Wexford/
Wicklow/Carlow Advisory Region were completed. Noting the satisfactory outcome of each review; the 
review committee recommended increasing the number of clients involved in reviews from three to five 
in order to improve client representation. 

FAIRSHARE 
European agriculture is facing critical challenges over the coming decades, particularly the 
sustainability of food production. A five year EU Horizon 2020 funded project was launched in Dublin, 
with the aim of improving agricultural advisors’ use of digital tools and services to enable better uptake 
of digital technologies by European farmers.

Advisory service in numbers
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Teagasc ConnectEd
Teagasc ConnectEd is a new and exciting initiative 
which has been designed to provide businesses 
and professionals working with the agri-food 
sector structured access to Teagasc research, 
education, knowledge resources and online tools. 
Total ConnectEd industry membership rose to 520 
in 2018, encompassing 276 companies. ConnectEd 
produced 28 publications, delivered eleven 
regional briefings and 83 training days.

CECRA   
CECRA stands for Certificate for European 
Consultants in Rural Areas and is a competence 
development programme for advisors and 
consultants. A total of 15 CECRA modules were 
delivered to advisors in 2018. Attendance at these 
modules has been growing steadily.

International links
Teagasc aims to contribute to co-operation 
and development of advisory services across 
Europe - e.g. through EUFRAS (European network 
and representative association of public and 
private rural and agricultural extension services) 
and development of EIP (European Innovation 
Partnership) proposals. In 2018 young Teagasc 
advisors attended the EUFRAS annual conference 
in Hungary. Teagasc are leading four European 
Innovation Partnerships and are partners 
in fifteen others. The European Innovation 
Partnership for agricultural productivity and 
sustainability (EIP-AGRI) was set up as a new way 
of helping the agricultural and forestry sectors to 
become more productive, sustainable and capable 
of tackling current challenges such as fiercer 
competition, more volatile market prices, climate 
change and stricter environmental rules.

Joint Programmes
Teagasc renewed joint dairy development 
programmes with Kerry, Dairygold and Glanbia 
with a new focus on sustainability, expansion and 
labour on dairy farms. 

Social Media
Significant efforts are ongoing to increase the 
scope and impact of Social Media usage for 
Knowledge Transfer, including: a new Teagasc 
Instagram channel; there is ongoing development 
of Facebook, Twitter, YouTube and LinkedIn 
channels; increased video and graphic content 
output; comprehensive coverage of major 
KT events; and coordinated preparation of 
campaigns (e.g. Farm Safety Week, Storm Emma, 
summer drought).

Graduate survey 
Graduates are interviewed five years after 
graduation and of the 2013 cohort 87% are 
involved in farming today and of these in excess 
of 80% have a farm management role. 50% of 
graduates are Teagasc clients five years after 
graduation (though others may be working on a 
farm where the owner would be a Teagasc client).
  

Dairy Edge podcast
The Dairy Edge is Teagasc’s weekly dairy podcast 
for farmers. Presented by Teagasc staff-member 
Emma-Louise Coffey the podcasts cover the latest 
information, insights and opinion to improve 
dairy farm performance.

Emma-Louise Coffey with farmer Noel Hurley

QQI validation 
Quality and Qualifications Ireland (QQI) is a state 
agency established by the Quality Assurance and 
Qualifications (Education and Training) Act 2012.
Teagasc’s 12 agricultural programmes (revised in 
2017 and including 80 Modules) were validated in 
2018.
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Education
Education Vision
Teagasc completed an extensive consultation and review process into 
future land sector education needs in 2018. It concluded that substantial 
transformation is likely across the land sector over the coming decades. 
New skills and capabilities will be required and the need for education and 
training across the land sector will intensify. The subsequent report, Teagasc 
Education Vision – meeting future needs - was launched at a National 
Education Conference in June. 

Teagasc Head of Education, Tony Pettit outlined key themes covered by the 
report and the conference: Teagasc Education Vision recommendations, 
workplace learning, lifelong learning, ‘smart agriculture’ implications, and 
gender diversity in land sector careers.  

Prof. Seamus Smyth, Teagasc Education Vision Steering Group chairperson; Prof. Gerry Boyle, Teagasc Director; 
Mr.Tony Pettit, Head of Education, Teagasc; Mr. Alan Jagoe, Teagasc Authority Advisory and Education Committee 

chairperson and Mr. Frank Murphy, Head of Curriculum Development and Standards, Teagasc.
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Weather impact in 2018
Extremes of weather caused problems for tillage and livestock farmers in 2018. In 
spring  fodder supplies were limited for many farmers as restricted production in 
summer 2017 co-incided with extremely cold conditions in winter/spring 2018. Cold 
and wet conditions delayed tillage crop planting until late April and summer drought 
resulted in a reduced growing season and lower yields.

Storm Emma in early March necessitated the closure of some Teagasc offices for a 
day, a Teagasc Authority meeting was deferred. Stormy weather also resulted in the 
temporary closure of the National Ploughing Championships in September.
Teagasc, working with other agencies, took numerous steps to support livestock and 
tillage farmers:  

• Head of the Teagasc Advisory Service Dermot McCarthy, acted as Chairman of the 
Interagency Fodder group established by the Department of Agriculture, Food and 
the Marine. 

• Teagasc advisors visited individual farmers and communicated through 
discussion group meetings with 13,000 farmers. Teagasc advisors assisted 
farmers, to budget silage and meals for their winter requirements.

• Fodder Clinics were held in most of the 50 Teagasc offices. 

• A Teagasc National Helpline offered farmers, including clients and non-clients, 
the facility to phone or text a Teagasc person for assistance. The Helpline was 
widely publicised and proved very popular.

• Teagasc facilitated contacts between farmers with surplus forage and those in 
deficit. Over 200 farmers with surplus silage and 500 farmers seeking supplies 
registered with Teagasc. 

• Teagasc conducted several surveys of fodder supplies on farms. 

• A fodder and finance budgeting week was held by Teagasc staff in October to 
assist farmers with the cash flow and financial budgeting implications of the 
difficult conditions. 

• Farmers attending the BEEF2018 event at Teagasc Grange could call to the 
Teagasc advisory stand to complete a fodder budget for their own farm, and 
assess their progress towards having adequate stocks of feed for winter 2018/
Spring 2019.  

• A Teagasc Crops Forum featured forage production opportunities for tillage 
farmers and how these can be fully utilised by both tillage and livestock farmers. 
A Teagasc Contract Forage Template offered growers and purchasers of forage a 
robust and fair framework for agreement.

• Fodder booklet was distributed at the National Ploughing Championships and via 
discussion groups etc. 



28

Annual Report 2018 & Financial Statements

National Prepared 
Consumer Food (PCF) Centre 
The Minister for Agriculture, Food and the 
Marine (DAFM), Michael Creed T.D., opened 
the new ‘Prepared Consumer Food Centre’ in 
Teagasc Ashtown, Dublin in October.  Speaking 
at the opening, Minister Creed highlighted 
the importance of the Prepared Consumer 
Foods Sector to Ireland and the challenges 
and opportunities facing the sector, which 
traditionally has had low levels of research.  

Minister Creed said: “The Prepared Consumer 
Foods sector accounted for €2.8 billion in agri-
food sector exports in 2017. The UK accounts 
for 60% of PCF food and drink exports and is 
therefore significantly challenged by Brexit.”

In 2018 DAFM invested €5.0 million in 
equipment and infrastucture at Teagasc 
Ashtown to develop a shared research capability 
in order to address the low levels of R&D in the 
PCF Sector. Under PCF Centre director, Declan 
Troy, Teagasc Food Industry Development 
staff have been responsible for managing the 
upgrading of facilities in Ashtown;  the selection 
and purchase of equipment in consultation with 
industry representatives;  and providing services 
to companies within the newly established PCF 
Centre.

In the PCF sector there are over 500 
manufacturing units spread across the State, 
directly employing more than 20,000 people.  
There is potential to create a significant 
number of direct jobs across the country as well 
as indirect jobs given that PCF companies are 
more labour intensive than other parts of the 
food sector.  However 76% of PCF companies in 
Ireland are small and investment in R&D within 
the sector has traditionally been low.

FOOD

Teagasc Research Officer Dr. Shivani Pathania 
works in the Teagasc Food Programme.
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Consumer perception
As part of a wider international study into 
meat consumer trends, Teagasc surveyed 251 
consumers across the country about their habits, 
behaviours, beliefs and perceptions when it 
comes to purchasing and consuming meat. 

How animals are reared (e.g. organic and free-
range farming) and how animals are farmed 
(e.g. animal welfare, hormone and antibiotic 
usage) are important in determining consumers’ 
perceptions of the quality of the meat produced.  
This has important implications for Quality 
Assurance schemes and highlights the need for 
continuous development of these schemes to 
align with consumers’ changing needs and values.

Sensory science
Teagasc hosted Sensory Food Network Ireland’s 
European Sensory Science Society Annual 
Symposium in May. The theme for this one 
day Symposium was ‘A Taste of Culture: 
Understanding the Global Consumer and Sensory 
Perception’.

Sensory Food Network Ireland was established 
in 2015 through funding from the Department of 
Agriculture, Food and the Marine under the Food 
Institutional Research Measure. The aim of the 
network is to promote the integration of sensory 
science activities on the island of Ireland and 
includes ten leading institutions with expertise in 
sensory science.   

Teagasc cross-cultural sensory research projects 
have begun in China (dairy) and the United 
States (meat) with two PhD students. Augmented 
Reality technology has been designed and a 
first project has now been completed. A new 

biometric sensory technology is currently 
being integrated into the research programme. 
Moorepark Technology Limited (MTL) is a joint 
venture company established by Teagasc with 
shareholders from the Irish Dairy Industry. 
MTL is also developing a large sensory analysis 
capability. 

Upskilling the Meat sector
To date in excess of 4,500 meat industry 
operatives including managerial and technical 
staff have been upskilled through two DAFM 
certified training programmes, representing in 
excess of 450 meat processing companies ranging 
from large multinationals to small and medium 
enterprises (SMEs). The programme has also been 
internationally accessed and validated by the EU 
Food and Veterinary Office (FVO) and the findings 
have been made public online. 

Foodworks
The fifth Foodworks programme was successfully 
delivered in 2018, in collaboration with Bord 
Bia and Enterprise Ireland, resulting in the 
development of new Irish food companies and 
product launches.

Microbiome
A new study from the Science Foundation Ireland 
Research Centre APC Microbiome Ireland at 
Teagasc and University College Cork, together 
with collaborators at Massachusetts General 
Hospital/Harvard University, found that mothers 
who eat healthy fats from oily fish may help their 
children form healthy guts and maintain healthy 
weights throughout their lives.

Participants from across Europe came to Teagasc Ashtown for the 
launch meeting of the Teagasc-led FAIRshare (Farm Advisory Digital 

Innovation Tools Realised and Shared) Horizon 2020 project.
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Teagasc Food Research Programme

The Programme’s objectives include: 

(i) to provide a science base to support product and process innovation, 

(ii) grow the Research and Innovation capabilities of food companies, 

(iii) provide pilot plant facilities and specialist technical services to these companies, 

(iv) assist Enterprise Ireland to leverage Foreign Direct Investment, and 

(v) provide scientific support to Bord Bia and the Food Safety Authority of Ireland to market Irish food 
and ensure its safety.

The Programme interacts with clients through Gateway Events (Food Innovation Gateways is part of 
the Teagasc Food Technology and Knowledge Transfer Strategy to support Irish food companies), the 
distribution of its Portfolio of Technologies (publications) and its network of Client Relationship Managers.

permanent 
researchers 

supported by

44
post-doctoral 
scientists and 

contract research 
officers

54

Walsh Fellows1 
and 62 support 

staff

80

million euro 
2017 budget

21.6

In 2017, 200 refereed publications were produced
in addition to the Programme providing services to 185 clients.

€750,000+ invested in new equipment annually.

1 Teagasc is a major employer of postgraduate Walsh Fellowship PhD students. A budget of €3.2 million per annum is committed to 
the programme. They are called Walsh Fellowships, to commemorate the late Dr. Tom Walsh, first director of both the Agricultural 
Research Institute and the National Advisory and Training Service, which were merged to form Teagasc.
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Goal 2
Support sustainable farming 
and the environment
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ENVIRONMENT
Agricultural Sustainability Support and Advisory 
Programme (ASSAP)
Commenting on the rollout of the ASSAP project in November 2018, Minister 
for Agriculture, Food and the Marine, Michael Creed T.D. said; “This initiative 
will deliver a free, one-to-one, sustainability advisory service to more than 
5,000 farmers to encourage behavioural change, facilitate knowledge transfer 
and achieve better on-farm environmental outcomes.  Supported by the 
Department of Housing, Planning and Local Government, the Department 
of Agriculture, Food and the Marine and by Dairy Industry Ireland, this 
Programme is acknowledged by the EU Commission as unique across Europe.” 

ASSAP is needed because: water quality has remained static; support 
for farmers is needed as well as regulation. Of the 30 new Agricultural 
Sustainability Advisors assigned to the programme, 20 are located in Teagasc 
while 10 who have undergone the same programme of training,  will operate 
within the dairy processors’ organisational structures.  

Teagasc beef specialist Karen Dukelow with Kildare farmers Padraig and Joe Farrell.
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Agricultural Catchments 
Programme
Irish farmers are working with the Teagasc-run 
Agricultural Catchments Programme to maintain 
and improve water quality. A new series of videos 
was released in 2018, featuring some of the 
farmers and highlighting the practices they have 
adopted to ensure they farm in harmony with the 
environment.

Greenhouse gases

Emissions Report
A Teagasc report - Analysis of Abatement 
Potential of Greenhouse Gas Emissions in Irish 
Agriculture 2021-2030 - assesses the likely level 
of future GHG emissions if no action is taken to 
address emissions over the period 2021 to 2030. 
The report also highlights the potential for GHG 
abatement based on the adoption of current 
scientific knowledge to limit the emissions from 
the sector. 

The future level of agricultural activity in 
Ireland is subject to uncertainty, due to, amongst 
other things, the evolving CAP and trade policy 
considerations, including the outcome of Brexit.  
To take account of such uncertainty, scenarios 
were developed involving differing assumptions 
about how Irish agriculture and GHG and 
ammonia emissions might evolve to 2030.  

The identified mitigation actions were then 
applied to these emissions pathways to determine 
the likely level of emissions that would result 
and the implications this would have for Ireland’s 
compliance with GHG and ammonia mitigation 
targets.

Marginal Abatement Cost 
Curve 
The second version of the Teagasc Marginal 
Abatement Cost Curve (MACC) was presented at 
the DAFM climate dialogue meeting in June.

Staff Profiles
A native of 
county Cork 
Dr. John Upton 
is a Research 
Officer at 
Teagasc 
Moorepark. 
John studied 
Mechanical 
Engineering in 
Cork Institute 
of Technology 

and went on to complete his PhD with 
the Animal Production Systems Group at 
Wageningen University, in the Netherlands.
 

Who are my customers?
I work as a Research Officer in the 
Livestock Systems Research Department. 
My main areas of research are milking 
and energy efficiency of Irish dairy 
farms, water-footprinting of ruminant 
production systems and micro-generation 
of renewable energy. The outputs of 
these research programmes deliver value 
to farmers, advisors, milking machine 
manufacturers and service technicians and 
policy makers in both DAFM and SEAI. The 
outputs of my research have been used to 
design a national energy efficiency grant 
for dairy farmers. This is contributing to 
our national energy and CO2 reduction 
targets while improving farm profitability. 
I’m also developing new ways of delivering 
value to stakeholders by providing 
farm specific advice via interactive 
dissemination tools.
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AranLIFE
The collaborative AranLIFE project saw the effective implementation of a results-based approach 
that pays farmers for the quality of the species-rich grassland that they deliver, resulting in increased 
biodiversity value of over 1,000ha of priority habitat. 

The project also identified seasonal limitations with respect to forage quality and developed customised 
diet supplements for livestock to improve their health, welfare and value while grazing on the species-
rich vegetation. The effectiveness of the project was recognised through securing funding for a 
follow-up European Innovation Partnership project, Caomhnú Árann. 

GM potatoes
Teagasc concluded a field study conducted 
in both The Netherlands and Ireland, which 
investigated the environmental and agronomic 
impact of a GM potato variety genetically 
engineered to resist late blight disease, caused by 
Phytophthora infestans. 

The study established that integrated production 
strategies which include varieties 
with enhanced genetic resistance 
against late blight disease can 
reduce the average fungicide input 
by 80-90%, without compromising 
control efficacy or yield.

In parallel to the active research 
programme, project staff completed 
over 95 knowledge transfer events 
across the country in support of the 
public discussion on the challenges 
facing future potato production 
and the costs/benefits of potential 
solutions.

Conservation tillage
Teagasc launched Enable Conservation Tillage 
(ECT), a European Innovation Partnership (EIP) 
project. The project aims to promote the “Wider 
adoption of sustainable conservation tillage 
systems”.  This five year project is a new way 
of problem solving which involves co-designing 
solutions with farmers to encourage the 
subsequent adoption of solutions identified.

Teagasc Tillage Advisor Mark Trimble with client James O’Reilly

Dr. Brendan Dunford of the Burren Programme (third from left) 
with Pat Clarke, Noel Meehan and Pat Murphy of Teagasc.
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Managing uplands
Best practices for farming uplands, see picture 
below, and managing the environment were 
outlined and discussed at an upland management 
event in Millstreet, Co. Cork. Over 80 landowners 
attended the event which was organised by 
Teagasc and the Forest Service of the Department 
of Agriculture, Food and the Marine, in 
conjunction with the Cork Wildfire Co-operative 
Group. Topics addressed included upland farming, 
environmental management, fire safety and 
controlled burning techniques.

Energy
‘Energy in Agriculture 2018’ took place in August 
at Gurteen College. 

An ‘Energy in Poultry’ event showcased energy 
saving opportunities for farmers together with 
renewable energy deployment options. Organised 
by Teagasc in association with IFAC, it took place 
in December at Teagasc Agricultural College, 
Ballyhaise, Co. Cavan. 

SOILS 
SQUARE
The Soil Quality Assessment and Research 
(SQUARE) project (partners include Teagasc, DAFM, 
UL, UCD and IT Sligo) has developed the first 
nationwide inventory of soil quality for managed 
grassland soil in Ireland. SQUARE surveyed 180 
sites geographically distributed across the five 
major agro-climatic regions of Ireland. 

A number of key soil quality indicators were 
identified that can be used by farmers to 
benchmark soil quality. This work also developed 
a number of on-farm Visual Soil Assessment 
tools for farmers and advisors to evaluate the soil 
quality and health status of individual areas. 

Soils of Ireland
The Environmental Protection Agency and 
Teagasc support a range of national activities 
that serve to increase knowledge on our natural 
environment and our natural resources, and 
together launched the Soils of Ireland book in 
2018.  This publication, which was prepared 
by thirty-nine national experts, provides a 
comprehensive overview of Irish soils, and 
includes important discussions and applications 
of the study of soils and soil management in 
Ireland.
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Terra Soil 
The Geological Survey Ireland (GSI) and Teagasc started a significant collaborative research project 
called Terra Soil in 2018. Terra Soil is the first research collaboration between Teagasc and GSI and 
brings together the long standing traditions of soils, agronomy, geology and geochemical expertise of 
both organisations. 

Part of Geological Survey Ireland’s Tellus Programme, Terra Soil is the first Smart Agriculture Research 
output from Tellus Product Development, which aims to unlock the potential of Tellus data to provide 
outputs for the benefit of the economy and society.

Soil Fertility Conference
Promoting good soil fertility management for 
increased grass production and profitability on 
grassland farms was the focus of the Teagasc Soil 
Fertility Conference, which took place in Kilkenny. 
Hundreds of grassland farmers and agri-industry 
representatives attended the conference to 
receive updates on the latest nutrient efficiency 
and fertiliser research as well as practical 
nutrient management planning tips and advice. 

Teagasc National Farm 
Survey Fertiliser Use Survey 
2005-2015
This publication reports the quantities of macro-
nutrients, Nitrogen (N), Phosphorus (P) and 
Potassium (K) and lime applied on Irish farms 
over the period 2005 to 2015. These data were 
collected through the Teagasc National Farm 
Survey (NFS) which contains information on 
the types of fertiliser used on both grassland 
and arable farms in Ireland on an annual basis.  
Trends for chemical fertiliser use are presented 
by nitrates zone, land use class, farm system, 
stocking rate band and agri-environmental 
scheme participation. 

The report covers an important period during 
which the EU Nitrates Directive came into 
operation bringing with it significant changes to 
chemical fertiliser management both at farm and 
field level. 

Speakers at the Teagasc Soil Fertility Conference.
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ECONOMICS
Teagasc Walsh Fellow and PhD candidate, Mary 
Brennan, was awarded the Best Poster at the 92nd 
Annual Conference of the Agricultural Economics 
Society, which was held at the University of 
Warwick in spring 2018. Mary’s research, ‘The 
development of Social Sustainability Indicators 
using the Teagasc National Farm Survey’ was 
one of twenty posters presented at the annual 
conference.

Digital behaviour 
The application of behavioural and social science 
to agriculture is an area gaining significant 
attention within research, policy and industry. In 
2018, the Agri-Food Business and Spatial Analysis 
Department secured funding in a number of 
research projects in this area. 

Networks have been established with national 
and international research groups working in 
this area including the Behavioural Science and 
Policy Group in the UCD Geary Institute, the 
Knowledge, Technology and Innovation Group 
and the Wageningen Economic Research Group at 
Wageningen University, and the Digiscape Future 
Science Platform in Commonwealth Scientific and 
Industrial Research Organisation (CSIRO). 

Bioeconomy 
The circular bioeconomy (The “Circular 
Bioeconomy” is defined as the intersection of
bioeconomy and circular economy, Adapted from 
Gaia Consulting (2016) in Synthesis report: Nordic 
working group for green growth – innovation and 
entrepreneurship 2013–2016) accounts for 8% of 

the EU’s workforce, with projections that bio-based 
industries could create up to 1 million jobs by 2030.  
Many of these jobs will be in rural and coastal areas, 
and offer the promise of new markets for farmers. 

Teagasc is a partner in an academic-industry 
partnership which secured €22 million investment 
from Science Foundation Ireland (SFI) and industry 
to develop a cohesive national approach to creating 
a circular bioeconomy.  This investment will be 
leveraged through the BEACON (Bioeconomy) SFI 
centre for research and innovation at University 
College Dublin using  multi-disciplinary perspective. 

Teagasc has been an important conduit between 
this partnership and the government’s Bioeconomy 
Implementation Group and the working group 
formed by the European Network for Rural 
Development to ‘mainstream’ the bioeconomy.  

Food supply chain
In partnership with University College Cork, 
Teagasc undertook an all-island study to examine 
the vulnerability of the food supply chain.  It 
examined food fraud (which is economically 
motivated) and food defence (which is maliciously 
motivated) events which result from intentional 
action by perpetrators who identify and exploit 
vulnerability in the supply chain. It found that 
while food companies consider the likelihood of 
such events as low, seven in ten are proactive in 
undertaking counter-measures.

A vulnerability management framework 
was developed which will be used by a range 
of stakeholders. This project provided an 
evidence base for the first time to underpin the 
development of more resilient supply chains in 
Ireland.  

Dr. Ivan Milovanovic and Dr. Anne Maria Mullen at Teagasc, Ashtown, study an extract containing high 
value proteins from meat co-products with functionality of relevance for food ingredient applications.
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Algae 
Currently, 90% of organic chemicals are based on fossil fuels, a non-renewable resource. 70% of proteins 
in the European Union are imported. Due to their high growth rate and the small land area required, 
algae could become an economic alternative to imported protein. The challenge is to optimise the algae 
value chain, from local production to storage and handling. 

That’s the aim of IDEA, a new project in the European Interreg North-West Europe programme, with 
partners in Belgium, the Netherlands, France, Germany and Ireland. In Ireland, Teagasc and Dr. Maria 
Hayes based at the Teagasc research centre in Ashtown, Dublin is involved in the project.

International development
During 2018, Teagasc has 

• Broadened its agricultural development funding base by securing direct EU project funding of €5 
million over five years to support the development of an efficient and effective dairy value chain in 
Eritrea.

• Built new international linkages with agricultural research organisations, e.g. Agrosavia in Colombia.

• For the first time, secured the active involvement of a Consultative Group for International 
Agricultural Research (CGIAR) research centre in one of our overseas projects.

• Been invited to present on our development activities to the Joint Oireachtas Committee on Foreign 
Affairs and Trade and Defence.

• Provided new opportunities for staff development by enabling them to apply their current research 
and knowledge transfer portfolios in an international context.

• Rendered Teagasc an attractive partner for future collaborative research and knowledge transfer 
initiatives on development issues and provided access to new funding streams (e.g. Irish Aid, EU 
development funds).

Teagasc/FBD Insurance Student of the Year
The Teagasc/FBD Insurance Student of the Year for 2018 was Paul Bowden, Urlingford, Co. Kilkenny.  Paul 
attended the Teagasc Kildalton Agricultural College where he completed the Teagasc Level 6 Advanced 
Certificate in Agricultural (Dairy Herd Management) - with Distinction. 

Paul was presented with the Student of the Year award by the Minister for Agriculture, Food and the 
Marine, Michael Creed T.D.  He was congratulated by Fiona Muldoon, Chief Executive of FBD Insurance 
and Director of Teagasc, Professor Gerry Boyle.  The awards, which are sponsored by FBD Insurance, are 
made to the top 16 graduates of Teagasc Level 6 agricultural education programmes in 2018.

Macra na Feirme President James Healy, Teagasc Director Professor Gerry Boyle, Minister for 
Agriculture, Food and the Marine, Michael Creed, T.D., Fiona Muldoon, Chief Executive FBD 

Insurance, and overall winner Paul Bowden, at the Teagasc Student of The Year awards.
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Goal 3
Encourage diversification of the 
rural economy and enhance 
the quality of life in rural areas
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Health and Safety
Promoting  farm health and safety in  the farming sector is challenging  due to the 
age structure of farmers, their predominantly self-employed status and  the range of 
hazards on farms.  Farmers as an occupational group have an inferior health status 
and Teagasc promotes the ‘Total Health’ model to enhance both health and safety in 
an integrated manner in line with international best practice.   

Teagasc  operates a joint Prevention Initiative  with the Health and Safety Authority 
and works with  state and farming bodies to assist farmers to effectively manage this 
aspect of farm management.

In 2018, out of a total of 39 workplace deaths, 16 farmers (incl. forestry) died in work-
related accidents, with 10 being aged 65 or older. The 2018 fatality number represents 
a decline of 28% on the trend for the previous 5 years. 

A national survey of farm accidents conducted by the Teagasc National Farm 
Survey (NFS) was completed in 2018.  This survey found that in the period 2012-2017 
more than one in ten farms experienced an accident, an estimated 2,814 accidents 
occurring per annum.

By farming system, the survey indicates that dairy farms had the highest accident 
rate of 18% over the survey period compared to tillage (12%) and sheep (11%) farms 
with the cattle systems of rearing (9%) and finishing (8%) reporting lower accident 
levels.

All Teagasc Training and Education Courses include a Health and Safety module. 
Additionally in 2018 a ‘Champions for Safety’ intiative took place where a farmer 
detailed the consequences of their accident to students. 

Teagasc undertook a number of initiatives to promote Health and Safety on farms in 
2018:

• Teagasc and the Health and Safety Authority (HSA) renewed a ‘Joint Initiative 
Agreement’ to promote farmer safety and health for the next three years. The 
initiative aims to provide safety and health research, training and advisory 
support to farmers. 

• ‘The Farm Safety Experience’, an event promoting family safety on farms, took 
place in Gurteen Agricultural College, Ballingarry Roscrea, Co. Tipperary in April. 
This was a collaborative event involving Teagasc, Gurteen Agricultural College, 
IFA, ICMSA, Arrabawn Co-op, FRS Networks, An Garda Siochana, Embrace and 
Agri Aware.  

• Two leading International Experts on Farm Safety shared their knowledge at a 
public seminar at the Teagasc, College of Amenity Horticulture, National Botanic 
Gardens. The seminar was open to the public and free of charge.

• The Irish Farmer Health Study had one paper published in the journal 
Occupational Medicine with another submitted for publication. The study is 
being conducted by Teagasc PhD Walsh Fellow Ms. Diana Van Doorn at the Centre 
for Men’s Health at IT Carlow. The study is also supported by Glanbia Ireland, 
Irish Heart Foundation, the Health Service Executive and the UCD School of 
Physiotherapy and Performance Science.

• Minister for Trade, Employment and Business Pat Breen T.D. visited safety 
demonstrations at Teagasc BEEF2018.

• Ms.Mairead McGuinness MEP visited the health and safety exhibit at Teagasc 
SHEEP2018  
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• ‘Positive Mental Health in Farming’ which highlights key issues associated with 
this topic was produced to assist farmers in the light of the fodder crisis and 
drought conditions that  prevailed in 2018. 

• Teagasc provides ‘Farm Safety Code of 
Practice’ training at half day sessions.  
The training covers practical safe 
working methods on farms. It was 
developed in partnership with the 
Health and Safety Authority (HSA) and 
deals with the reality of farm hazards.  
In 2018,  2,365  farmers attended a half-
day course provided by Teagasc. 

• The Health and Safety Authority and 
Teagasc, with FBD sponsorship and the 
support of the Farm Safety Partnership, 
hosted a ‘National Conference on Farm 
Safety and Health’ in Co Carlow in 
October. The theme of the conference 
was ‘Safe Farming in Challenging Times’ 
with contributions from national and 
international experts on farm safety 
and health.

• A Safety Seminar entitled ‘Felling your 
trees safely’ took place at Teagasc 
Mellows Campus, Athenry, Co. Galway. 
The seminar was hosted by the Health 
and Safety Authority and Teagasc and 
was aimed at farmers who fell trees, or 
do chainsaw work

Services Available. 

n  Teagasc Advisors and Farm Consultants

 are available to farmers to advice on farm  

 management issues. Farming organisations  

 offer services to their members.

n  A person’s GP should be consulted   

 regularly and when needed. 

n  A range of both Local and National Support

 Groups are available.

n  The Samaritans can be contacted at 

 1850 60 90 90. Their website 

 http://www.samaritans.org gives a list 

 of support agencies. 

n  St Patrick’s University Hospital, Dublin   

 provides a Support & Information Service  

 staffed by experienced mental health   

 nurses 9-5 Monday to Friday with an   

 answering and call-back facility   

 outside hours. You can contact the 

 Support & Information service by calling  

 01 249 3333.

Positive Mental Health 
in Farming

Managing Farm Safety. 

It is a legal requirement to complete a Safety Statement.  
For farms with 3 or less employees it is permitted to 
complete a Risk Assessment under a Statutory Code 
of Practice. A Risk Assessment Document and Code 
of Practice are available for the Agriculture sector in 
Ireland. New green coloured documents have been 
issued and these need to be completed by the 1st 
January 2019 to replace the previous white coloured 
documents. If a person has more than 3 employees, it 
is advised to complete the Risk Assessment document 
first and then complete a Safety Statement. All 
documents are available on the H.S.A. website at: 

https://www.hsa.ie/eng/Your_Industry/Agriculture_
Forestry/Overview/Agriculture_Code_of_Practice/

Teagasc and Agricultural Consultants provide a 
Half-Day Training Course on the Risk Assessment 
Document. This is a mandatory requirement for 
drawing down DAFM TAMS11 funding.  

Finally, it is advised that document completion is a 
means to an end: giving a focus for taking action to 
prevent injury or ill health. 
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Current Information on 
Teagasc services can be 
obtained on the web at:

www.teagasc.ie

Leaflet prepared by Dr John McNamara, 
Teagasc Health  and Safety Specialist
Contact: john.g.mcnamara@teagasc.ie

Steering Group for Irish Farmers Health Study with Walsh Fellow Ms. Diana van Doorn (4th from left) 
and Teagasc Director Professor Gerry Boyle (6th from left).
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• A new Smart Kids newsletter was developed on foot of a submission to the Open 
Innovation Programme by Teagasc Advisor, Cian Condon. The publication, which 
is issued to all advisory and Teagasc ConnectEd clients quarterly, recognises that 
children are a key concern when it comes to farm safety and they are important 
influencers within farm families.

• Teagasc’s Health and Safety Specialist, Dr. John McNamara, and PhD Walsh 
Fellow, Tracey O’Connor, provided five presentations at the International Congress 
on Occupational Health (ICOH) in 2018. The week-long triennial event (29 April 
to 4 May) was held in the Convention Centre, Dublin and attracted over 2,200 
delegates from around the world. John and Tracey’s presentations were prepared 
in association with collaborating organisations, the Health and Safety Authority; 
IT Carlow – Centre for Men’s Health; UCD College of Agricultural and Health 
Sciences and EU Cooperation in Science and Technology (COST) network project 
Safety Culture and Risk Management in Agriculture (SACURIMA). 

• The EU COST Action - Safety Culture and Risk Management in Agriculture 
(acronym SACURIMA) met in Ireland during March 2018. This Action is a network 
of scientists from 39 countries which aims to improve farm safety across Europe. 
The group visited Teagasc Grange Centre. Dr. John McNamara, Teagasc Health and 
Safety Specialist is Vice Chair of the Action. 

Mr. Pat Breen T.D. , Minister of State for Trade, Employment, Business, EU Digital Single Market 
and Data Protection, Dr. Sharon McGuinness, CEO, H.S.A, Professor Gerry Boyle, Director Teagasc, 

and Professor Peter Lundqvist, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences. 
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RURAL DEVELOPMENT
The farmer-farm relationship in later life 
This Teagasc research brings into focus the suitability and appropriateness of previous and existing 
generational renewal in agriculture policy strategies, by presenting a nuanced analysis of the deeply 
embedded attachment older farmers have with their farms, and how such a bond can hinder succession 
and land mobility. 

Aiming to ensure farmers’ emotional wellbeing and quality of life in later years, the researchers 
developed a series of recommendations including the establishment of a Macra-style organisation 
geared specifically towards older members of the farming community. A synopsis of this research was 
awarded best poster at the 50th Conference of Irish Geographers held in Maynooth University in May 
2018.

Understanding the Economics of Land Access 
Through micro simulation modelling looking at the policy and taxation drivers this research 
looked at various farm system and size scenarios and through application of the long term leasing 
income taxation incentives to various farm scenarios. The research was instrumental in providing 
more informed and focused pre budget submissions to the Agri-Taxation Review Working Group. 
As a consequence, the research has had wide reaching  affects and as well as resulting in the 
implementation of changes put forth as part of Agri-taxation review, and thus having beneficial effects 
on land mobility in influencing decisions at the farm level so as to improve land access for aspiring and 
expanding farmers.

Organic farming
Teagasc Organic Specialists organised and delivered 12 national organic demonstration farm walks 
including a major Cookery Demo /KT approved Organic Drystock event in Co. Westmeath featuring 
Catherine Fulvio (pictured below). There was a total attendance of 1,500 at these organic farm walks 
which are supported by the Department of Agriculture, Food and the Marine.
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Pictured at the Agri-tourism conference were L to R: Alan Farrell, Galway County Council; Dr. Mary Ryan Teagasc;
Sinead Hennessy Fáilte Ireland; Hans Embacher, Holiday on the Farm Austria and Barry Caslin Teagasc,

at the Teagasc / Galway County Council Agri-Tourism Conference 2018 in association with Fáilte Ireland. 

Agri-tourism
Agri-tourism is fast becoming a popular 
diversification option for farm families. Following 
a study tour by a group of Options Coordinators 
of agri-tourism businesses in Germany, the first 
dedicated Agri-Tourism Conference was held by 
Teagasc in Athlone in October 2018. International 
and national experts provided valuable insights 
on best practice for agri-tourism co-operatives, 
Fáilte Ireland tourism development plans and a 
range of successful Irish agri-tourism ventures. 

Equine husbandry
Teagasc equine specialists completed Young 
Breeder Training with 250 participations involved 
in 6 training events.

Options Workshops
Options Workshops were delivered in 11 regional 
locations to provide advice in relation to on and 
off-farm diversification opportunities.

Energy in Agriculture 2018
Energy in Agriculture 2018 was held in August in 
Gurteen Agricultural College with plenty of advice 
from experts on reducing energy costs, switching & 
minimising fuel, achieving energy efficient lighting 
and improving margins through sustainability.

BIA Innovator Campus:
Teagasc is one of the founding promoters of 
the BIA Innovator Campus CLG and is a driving 

force in the establishment of a dynamic food 
and drink innovation and incubation hub at 
Mellows Campus, Athenry. In 2018, two Teagasc 
representatives sat on the Board of Directors 
(Head of Food Programme and Head of Athenry 
Campus) and staff in the Food Industry 
Development Department played a critical role in 
the development of the design, layout and cost of 
the planned BIA Obair incubation space.

Dr. Anne Kinsella of the Teagasc Rural 
Economy Development Programme with 

Galway on-farm cheesemaker Teresa Roche.
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FARM MANAGEMENT
Profit Monitor
There were 18,507 Teagasc Profit Monitors 
completed in total during 2018 calendar year. This 
is the highest level ever achieved and was boosted 
by the requirement to complete the Teagasc 
Profit Monitor as part of the Knowledge Transfer 
Discussion Group scheme.

Registered Farm 
Partnerships
There was a steady growth in registered farm 
partnerships in 2018. This is supported by the 
advisory service and the Teagasc collaborative 
farming specialist. The numbers have been rising 
at a rate of 410 on average per year since 2015 
when they were opened to all farming enterprises.

Teagasc also promotes the concept of Contract 
Rearing of dairy stock and there were six 
information meetings held in 2018 with the 
ultimate aim of establishing contract rearing 
discussion groups. 

Machinery sharing 
After a numbers of years of preparatory work, 
Teagasc established Ireland’s first machinery 
sharing co-operative, based on the French CUMA 
model in West Cork. It is planned to increase the 
number of these in the coming years as they offer 
the potential to reduce the fixed costs associated 
with machinery on farms. 

Basic payment applications
Basic Payment Scheme completed successfully 
including the implementation of 100% online 
application and entitlement transfer. Teagasc 
advisors supported by farm management
specialists completed 43,300 Basic Payment Forms. 

Staff Profiles
Orlaith McEvoy, 
Teagasc, Oak 
Park, Carlow, 
holds a BA in 
accounting and 
Human Resource 
Management 
and an advanced 
certificate 
from the Irish 
Institute of 
Purchasing and 

Materials Management. Orlaith is currently 
studying with the chartered Institute of 
Management accountants. Orlaith joined 
Teagasc in 2017 working as a Procurement 
Officer in Head Office after working for 15 
years in Diageo based in St James Gate, 
Dublin.
 

Who are my customers?
“Procurement in Teagasc is advancing 
towards a more centralised structure where 
efficiency, value for money and compliance 
with public procurement guidelines are 
key drivers. My primary customers are 
Internal Teagasc stakeholders, particularly 
those relating to laboratory consumables 
and equipment and systems where I 
provide guidance, support and advice in 
all procurement related matters. I also 
work closely with external suppliers where 
performance is managed to maximise the 
value of those relationships”.
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Goal 4
Enhance organisational 
capability and deliver value 
for money
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TEAGASC GOLD MEDAL
Professor Michael Diskin is the 2018 winner of the Teagasc Gold Medal. 
Professor Diskin, pictured below with Teagasc Chairman Mr. Liam Herlihy 
and Teagasc Director Professor Gerry Boyle, is Head of the Teagasc Animal & 
Bioscience Research Department and he is also the Sheep Enterprise Leader. 
He has been in charge of the Teagasc, Mellows Campus, in Athenry Co. Galway 
for 14 years.
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Sir John Hammond award
David Kenny, principle research scientist in ruminant nutritional physiology at Teagasc and one of 
Ireland’s leading experts in cattle nutrition whose work has helped identify links between nutrition and 
reproduction was presented with a prestigious award in 2018 to recognise his contribution to animal 
science. David was presented the British Society of Animal Science’s Sir John Hammond award at the 
society’s annual conference in Dublin. 

Teagasc/SRUC conference
A conference organised jointly by Scotland’s Rural College (SRUC) and Teagasc which took place in 
Edinburgh, in March, focussed on how the two organisations, working together, can identify solutions 
and help create new opportunities for rural economies. 

Professor Wayne Powell, Principal and CEO, SRUC said: “This is a timely meeting focusing on the rural 
economy at a point when we are going through massive changes in the expectations of government, 
farmers, industry and society more generally as to how we use our land to deliver a range of both public 
and private goods. Behavioural and culture change alongside the adoption of new disruptive science and 
technology will be of paramount importance.”

Professor Gerry Boyle, Teagasc Director, said: “New opportunities for rural areas will not be just confined 
to traditional sectors. New digital and other areas of science and technology will create opportunities 
for agri-food. The development of new technologies for the use and transformation of bio-materials has 
opened up a wide range of potential new economic opportunities for rural areas. Markets for new bio-
based products, for biofuels, green chemicals and biomaterials are projected to grow. They have a real 
contribution to make to the rural economy. Investing in growing these domains creates opportunities 
in many sectors, more highly skilled jobs, more competitive and sustainable rural economies, as well as 
openings into new markets”.

Also speaking at the conference, Professor Frank O’Mara, Director of Research in Teagasc, said: 
“To realise this potential, investment will be required in new technologies, new business models, 
new models for the organisation of supply chains and value chains, as well as new policies and 
infrastructures. International research collaboration will be essential to help realise these opportunities. 
The existing strong links between SRUC and Teagasc can be further developed to address the required 
new research agenda.”

The event will be held biannually. Attendees at the conference are pictured below.
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Alumni network
At the seminar the new 
Teagasc Walsh Fellowships 
Alumni network was 
launched by the Teagasc 
chairman Liam Herlihy. The 
inaugural winner of the 
2018 Teagasc Walsh Fellows 
alum of the Year award was 
Dr. Andrew Fisher (pictured 
centre right). He was a Walsh 
Fellow at the start of the 
programme in 1993 and 
undertook a PhD on factors 
affecting the welfare and 
health of beef cattle based at 
Teagasc Grange. He was the 
Walsh Fellowships RDS gold 
medal winner in 1996. He 
is currently the Director of 
the Animal Welfare Science 
Centre in Australia.

Walsh Fellowships
The Teagasc Walsh Fellowships seminar took 
place in Johnstown Castle, county Wexford 
on October, 5. This was the 25th anniversary 
of the Walsh Fellowships programme 
through which postgraduate students pursue 
their PhD’s and Masters through Teagasc and 
the universities.

Teagasc Director, Professor Gerry Boyle 
said: “Our Walsh Fellowships Postgraduate 
Programme is critical to the success of our 
research and knowledge transfer activities 
in Teagasc. Each year we invest around €6 
million in supporting more than 250 Ph.D. 
and M.Sc. students.”

The overall 2018 winner of the Teagasc 
Walsh Fellowships Medal was Eoin O Connor, 
from the Teagasc Crops, Environment and 
Land use programme for his work entitled 
‘FISH for Fungi: Visualisation of viruses in 
the mycelium of the commercial mushroom 
Agaricus bisporus’. He was presented with 
the medal by Professor Gerry Boyle, Director 
of Teagasc.

Orla Power won the Institute of Food Science 
and Technology Ireland (IFSTI) medal. She 
was presented with the award by Teagasc’s 
Declan Troy, President of IFSTI.
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Dr. Tom Walsh 
A plaque to commemorate the late Dr. Tom Walsh 
(1914-1988) the first Director of An Foras Talúntais 
(AFT) and ACOT, was unveiled in his native 
Piercetown in county Wexford. The plaque was 
organised by Wexford County Council, and the 
national Committee of Science and Engineering 
Commemorative Plaques. Dr. Walsh was a 
national leader in agricultural and food research 
in Ireland and a globally recognised soil scientist. 

BTYoung Scientists 
Exhibition
Over 20 Teagasc staff participated on the Teagasc 
stand at BTYSTE. The event is the longest- 
standing display of secondary school students’ 
abilities in the area of science and technology. 

The Teagasc special award at BTYSTE 2018 was 
presented to Darragh Twomey, Neil O’Leary and 
Andrew Heffernan, transition year students at 
Colaiste Treasa, Kanturk, Co. Cork by Professor 
Frank O’Mara, Director of Research at Teagasc, 
(see above) for their project entitled ‘Feeding 
9.6 billion people by 2050 – the effects of 
Pseudomonas flourescens L321 endophyte on 
enhancing barley crop yield’. 

The students were runners-up in the Group 
section, a great achievement considering 4,251 
students from 383 schools entered 2,031 projects 
for BTYSTE 2018. 

GDPR
The General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) 
came into force on 25 May 2018. GDPR replaces 
the existing data protection framework under 
the EU Data Protection Directive. It reinforces 
fundamental rights in relation to the processing 
of personal data. Among the major changes in 
these regulations are that organisations have to 
prove compliance and must have a legal basis to 
process and retain data. 

Organisations must report all data breaches to 
the Data Protection Commissioner and much 
higher sanctions are applied to organisations that 
do not comply with the regulations. 
Public bodies are also required to appoint a Data 
Protection Officer. Teagasc undertook a large 
GDPR readiness project and provided GDPR 
training for all staff prior to the deadline. 

Teagasc–WIT 
Teagasc Director, Professor Gerry Boyle, and 
Waterford Institute of Technology (WIT) President, 
Willie Donnelly, recently joined with current and 
former Teagasc and WIT staff to mark the 40th 
anniversary of working together. 

The agricultural science programme at WIT 
commenced in the 1977/78 academic year, with 
substantial elements of the programme being 
delivered at Teagasc Kildalton. This landmark 
innovation became the model for Teagasc’s 
participation in higher education over succeeding 
decades. 
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The Teagasc–WIT relationship has continued 
to expand, with education links extending to 
horticulture, forestry, food science and Teagasc 
staff training. WIT is Teagasc’s most significant 
education partner for undergraduate education. 
WIT and Teagasc also collaborate on research 
areas of mutual interest. 
 

Staff survey
An on-line Teagasc staff survey (47% 
participation) found that:

• Commitment to the organisation remains 
high,

• >75% agreed “Teagasc is a great place to 
work”, 

• >85% agreed Work gives them a sense of 
accomplishment,

• 95% persevere even in times of adversity,

• Respect from management & colleagues is 
high,

• There is a strong sense of self-awareness and 
self-leadership,

• Safety is a high priority for the organisation 
and

• Line management development is delivering a 
return on investment. 

Areas requiring continued focus include:

• Work-life balance, health & wellbeing. 

• Reward & recognition. 

• Team-working & collaboration. 

• Continued management of under-
performance. 

• Ongoing management development 
initiatives. 

• Gender, diversity and inclusion. 

Administrator 
Development Programme
Congratulations to all our colleagues who 
graduated from the Administrator Development 
Programme, Project Management Programme and 
the Management Development Programme.

Teagasc energy report
Teagasc operate out of 55 locations nationwide 
varying in scale from Campus type facilities with 
100+ staff (e.g. Research Centres & Colleges) to 
small local Advisory offices with approximately 
10 staff. The Teagasc built environment is the 
principal user of energy resources  accounting 
for approximately 82% of total consumption. In 
2018, Teagasc consumed 26,882 MWh of energy 
consisting of:
 

• 11,033 MWh of electricity (41.0% of total 
energy);

• 9,691 MWh of fossil fuel for space heating 
(36.1% of total energy);

• 4,497 MWh of vehicle fuel, consisting of 
agricultural, commercial transport and car 
fleet (16.7% of total energy);

• 1,660 MWh of renewable fuels (6.2% of total 
energy).

 
Renewable fuel sources accounted for 6.2% of 
total energy use in 2018, however this figure does 
not take account of the portion of purchased 
electricity which is generated from renewable 
resources or the renewable fuel element of 
purchased transport fuels. In addition, Teagasc 
has developed an energy action plan and project 
pipeline as a result of a strategic energy auditing 
program delivered last year. Grant funding from 
SEAI is being used to support delivery of several 
projects, such as HVAC controls optimisation & 
BMS upgrades across the organisation. A group 
wide LED lighting retrofit programme has also 
commenced, which will deliver carbon emissions 
reductions of c.700t/year when delivered.

An Taoiseach Leo Varadkar, T.D., Mr. John Halligan, T.D., Minister for State at the Dept. of Education and Skills, with Teagasc and 
WIT staff commemorating the 40th anniversary of the Teagasc-WIT partnership - at the Land Science Career event held in 2018.
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Photography Competition
Congratulations to Teagasc Research Officer, 
Shafique Matin, who was the overall winner 
of the 2018 Vision of Research and Innovation 
photo competition. Shafique’s image (right), The 
Gruesome Guest, features a Cordyceps fungus 
invading its insect host, observed during his work 
on the Department of Agriculture, Food and the 
Marine-funded Ideal-HNV project. 

The Ideal-HNV project aims to describe high 
nature value (HNV) farming systems in the 
Irish context and to identify those areas likely 
to contain HNV farmland. EU member states 
are required to identify areas with HNV farming 
practices and support them through rural 
development.

New Programme for Future 
Research Leaders
Teagasc and the European Commission will co-
fund a new programme which will employ 20 
new experienced researchers for 36 months each, 
over the next five years. These fellowships aim to 
develop the next generation of agri-food research 
leaders to underpin the objectives of Ireland’s 
Food Wise 2025 strategy.

This new programme, launched in spring 2018, 
offers applicants the opportunity to conduct their 
research in the best academic, or non-academic, 
organisation of their choice worldwide (outside of 
Ireland) for 18 months, followed by a return phase 
to Teagasc (Ireland) for a further 18 months. 

President of Ireland Michael D. Higgins and his wife Sabina visited the Tegasc marquee at the National Ploughing Championships in 
September 2018. Also pictured are Mrs. Anna May McHugh, Professor Tom Kelly and Paul Hennessy of Teagasc.
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Finance Strategy 2018-2020
This new Finance Department Strategy plans to 
strengthen and deepen the centralised finance 
function within Teagasc and to further develop 
the finance function as a business partner in the 
organisation. The purpose of the Strategy is to set 
and align the Department’s goals and priorities 
to those of Teagasc, as well as to ensure the 
achievement of these goals through measurable 
actions. 

International Scientific 
Advisory Board 
The International Scientific Advisory Board (ISAB) 
reported that the Teagasc ‘model’ for delivery 

of knowledge and innovation throughout the 
food system is something special that should 
be nurtured and widely promoted in the EU and 
beyond. 

Bibliometric Analysis 
The Bibliometric Analysis report for the 
period 2013-2017 shows continuous annual 
improvement in both the quantity and quality 
of papers published over that period. In addition 
Teagasc met all of its key metric targets and was 
on par with Higher Education Institutions (HEIs) 
of equivalent research expenditure as reporterd in 
its 2017 Technology Transfer activities report.

Conference on Gender and Diversity
Teagasc held its first Gender and Diversity conference to coincide with International Women’s Day 
on 8 March. Senior management and over 100 staff attended (places were limited to 100). Videos of 
presentations made at the conference were placed on the Teagasc web site. A huge amount of feedback 
was gathered from staff during consultation workshops and these valuable contributions have formed 
the basis of action plans which are currently being implemented.

Attendees at Teagasc’s first Staff Conference on Gender and Diversity. 
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Quality Customer Service 
A new Teagasc Customer Action Plan (2019-2021) 
has been produced, guided by feedback from 
customers and Teagasc staff. The action plan, 
accompanied by a revised Teagasc Customer 
Charter, will serve as a framework to measure, 
report on and improve the quality of customer 
service across the organisation for the next three 
years. 

Teagasc is committed to providing services in 
accordance with the twelve Quality Customer 
Service Guiding Principles for the public 
service, as set out by the Department of Public 
Expenditure and Reform. The new charter and 
action plan will be published in early 2019.

Technology Transfer
During 2018, Teagasc’s Technology Transfer Office 
(TTO) negotiated 26 research agreements with 
companies partly, or wholly, funding projects with 
a value greater than €25,000. 

In terms of innovation activity, 23 invention 
disclosures were filed by Teagasc researchers 
with the TTO. Seven originated in the Crops, 
Environment and Land Use Programme (CELUP), 
16 came from the Food Programme. Four patents 
were filed, three from the Food Programme, and 
one from the Animal and Grassland Research and 
Innovation Programme (AGRIP). Teagasc executed 
12 licences, options and assignments over the 
year - 11 from the Food Programme and one from 
AGRIP.

These figures represent significant technology 
transfer activity and researchers involved can use 
these metrics as evidence of research impact in 
future grant applications.

Staff Profiles
A native of Rush, 
Co. Dublin, Matt 
McGuinness is 
a UCD graduate 
in Computer 
Science and 
joined Teagasc 
(An Foras 
Talúntais at the 
time) in 1986. 
He is based at 
the Ashtown 

Food Research Centre and his current role 
is Server and Storage Manager in the ICT 
Department.
 

Who are my customers?
“All Teagasc ICT systems rely on the 
servers and file storage infrastructure 
on which those systems are built, so my 
customers are all users of those systems. 
This includes all external users of Teagasc’s 
online systems such as NMP OnLine, 
PBI and eProfit Monitor, and all internal 
Teagasc users – both staff and students. 
The challenge is to maintain and regularly 
refresh the infrastructure to meet the 
ever increasing demand for servers and 
disk storage capacity. I need to anticipate 
that demand and commission additional 
infrastructure resources as necessary. I 
also need to keep up with the latest server 
and storage technologies and manage 
significant upgrades from time to time in 
order to provide a modern, fit for purpose 
ICT infrastructure to Teagasc.”

Dr. Ray Kelly, Mr. Michael Creed T.D. Minister for Agriculture, Fisheries, Food and the Marine, 
and Mr. Declan Troy, assistant Director of the Teagasc Food Programme.
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Horizon 2020 funding success 
Teagasc joint 5th among research organisations in 
Europe
Teagasc secured €6.3 million funding for research from the European Commission’s Horizon 2020 
programme in 2018. In comparison with all other research organisations and universities across Europe, 
Teagasc was joint 5th in terms of number of successful projects and 6th overall in terms of money 
awarded in the agri-food stream of European funding. 

Horizon 2020 is the European Commission’s research funding programme. It has a total budget of 
almost €80 billion and runs from 2014 to 2020. In total, Teagasc has secured €19.6 from Horizon 2020 so 
far. The 19 Teagasc researchers who are leading or participating in the new projects met with Teagasc 
Director, Professor Gerry Boyle in Oak Park Carlow.

In congratulating the successful applicants, Professor Boyle said; “2018 was a particularly successful 
year for us, with Teagasc securing €6.3 million in new funding from Horizon 2020, through a competitive 
process. It is a really important for us to collaborate with researchers and knowledge transfer 
professionals from across Europe and this EU funding allows us to achieve that. Teagasc has reached its 
target of €19 million from Horizon 2020 with two years still remaining. This is 1.6 times the total funding 
that we secured during the full duration of FP7 EU research fund (the predecessor of Horizon 2020).”

Horizon 2020 is organised into three main pillars: Excellent Science; Industrial Leadership and Societal 
Challenges. The Societal Challenges are organised around seven key societal challenges that the EC has 
identified as needing significant research and innovation input. Societal Challenge 2 focuses on Food 
Security, Sustainable Agriculture and Forestry, Marine, Maritime and Inland Water Research and the 
Bioeconomy. 

In the 2018 call for Societal Challenge 2 - “Food Security, Sustainable Agriculture and Forestry, Marine, 
Maritime and Inland Water Research and the Bioeconomy”, Teagasc was joint fifth for the number of 
projects awarded and sixth overall for total funding secured. Teagasc is the only Irish organisation in the 
top-20 for agri-food research funding in 2018.

Professor Boyle said; ”It is great to see the breadth of activities, from cutting edge research and 
knowledge transfer activities to science outreach and gender studies. In particular I would like to 
acknowledge Tom Kelly and Paul Cotter who will lead two large Horizon 2020 projects - FairShare and 
MASTER.”

The successful research projects that Teagasc will lead or participate in include: 

• MASTER - Microbiome Applications for Sustainable food systems through Technologies and 
Enterprise

• FAIRshare - Farm Advisory digital Innovation tools Realised and Shared

• REFLOW - Phosphorus Recovery for Fertilisers from dairy processing waste

• SARMENTI - Smart multisensor embedded and secure system for soil nutrient and gaseous emission 
monitoring

• Gender-SMART Science Management of Agriculture and life sciences, including Research and 
Teaching

• GenSPaD - Genomic Selection for Pasture Digestibility

• SmartAgriHubs - Connecting the dots to unleash the innovation potential for digital transformation 
of the European agrifood Sector

• BEST4SOIL - Boosting 4 BEST practices for SOIL health in Europe

• MICROBIOMESUPPORT - Towards coordinated microbiome R&I activities in the food system to 
support (EU and) international bioeconomy goals

• Legumes Translated - Translating knowledge for legume-based farming for feed and food systems

• Cork Discovers: Learn, Live, Love Research
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REPORT OF THE COMPTROLLER AND AUDITOR GENERAL FOR PRESENTATION TO THE HOUSES OF THE OIREACHTAS

Opinion on the financial statements

I have audited the financial statements of Teagasc for the year ended 31 December 2018 as required under the provisions of the 
Agriculture (Research, Training and Advice) Act 1988. The financial statements comprise

• the consolidated statement of income and expenditure

• the consolidated statement of comprehensive income

• the statement of financial position of the Group and of Teagasc

• the consolidated statement of changes in capital and reserves

• the statement of changes in capital and reserves of Teagasc

• the consolidated statement of cash flows and

• the related notes, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In my opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities and financial position of the Group and of Teagasc 
at 31 December 2018 and of the Group's income and expenditure for 2018 in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard (FRS) 102 
- The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and the Republic of Ireland.

Basis of opinion

I conducted my audit of the financial statements in accordance with the International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) as promulgated by the 
International Organisation of Supreme Audit Institutions. My responsibilities under those standards are described in the appendix to this 
report. I am independent of Teagasc and have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the standards.

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion.

Report on information other than the financial statements, and on other matters

Teagasc has presented certain other information together with the financial statements. This comprises the annual report including the 
governance statement and the statement on internal control. My responsibilities to report in relation to such information, and on certain 
other matters upon which I report by exception, are described in the appendix to this report.

Non compliant procurement

I draw attention to the statement on internal control which discloses that Teagasc incurred expenditure of €1.2 million on goods and 
services the procurement of which was not compliant with the relevant procedures. The statement on internal control also sets out the 
steps being taken to address the procurement weaknesses.

Seamus McCarthy
Comptroller and Auditor General
26 June 2019
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Appendix to the report

Responsibilities of Authority members

As detailed in the governance statement and Authority members' 
report the Authority members are responsible for

• the preparation of financial statements in the form prescribed 
under Section 12 of the Agriculture (Research, Training and 
Advice) Act, 1988

• ensuring that the financial statements give a true and fair 
view in accordance with FRS102

• ensuring the regularity of transactions

• assessing whether the use of the going concern basis of 
accounting is appropriate, and

• such internal control as they determine is necessary to 
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Responsibilities of the Comptroller and Auditor General

I am required under the Agriculture (Research, Training and Advice) 
Act, 1988 to audit the financial statements of Teagasc and to 
report thereon to the Houses of the Oireachtas.

My objective in carrying out the audit is to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement due to fraud or error. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with the ISAs will always detect 
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in 
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial 
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with the ISAs, I exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. In doing so,

• I identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the 
financial statements whether due to fraud or error; design 
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks; 
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of not detecting 
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than 
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control.

• I obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the 
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the internal controls.

• I evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used 
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures.

• I conclude on the appropriateness of the use of the going 

concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 
evidence obtained, on whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant 
doubt on Teagasc's ability to continue as a going concern. If 
I conclude that a material uncertainty exists, I am required to 
draw attention in my report to the related disclosures in the 
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of my report. However, 
future events or conditions may cause Teagasc to cease to 
continue as a going concern.

• I evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content 
of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and 
whether the financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation.

I communicate with those charged with governance regarding, 
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies 
in internal control that I identify during my audit.

Information other than the financial statements

My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other 
information presented with those statements, and I do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with my audit of the financial statements, I am 
required under the ISAs to read the other information presented 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the financial statements or with knowledge 
obtained during the audit, or if it otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. If, based on the work I have performed, I conclude that 
there is a material misstatement of this other information, I am 
required to report that fact.

Reporting on other matters

My audit is conducted by reference to the special considerations 
which attach to State bodies in relation to their management and 
operation. I report if I identify material matters relating to the manner 
in which public business has been conducted.

I seek to obtain evidence about the regularity of financial 
transactions in the course of audit. I report if I identify any material 
instance where public money has not been applied for the purposes 
intended or where transactions did not conform to the authorities 
governing them.

I also report by exception if, in my opinion,

• I have not received all the information and explanations I 
required for my audit, or

• the accounting records were not sufficient to permit the 
financial statements to be readily and properly audited, or

• the financial statements are not in agreement with the 
accounting records.
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STATEMENT ON INTERNAL CONTROL

Scope of responsibility 

On behalf of Teagasc I acknowledge the Authority’s responsibility for ensuring that an effective system of internal control is maintained 
and operated. This responsibility takes account of the requirements of the Code of Practice for the Governance of State Bodies (2016).

Purpose of the system of internal control 

The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a tolerable level rather than to eliminate it. The system can therefore only 
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance that assets are safeguarded, transactions authorised and properly recorded and that 
material errors or irregularities are either prevented or detected in a timely way. 

The system of internal control, which accords with guidance issued by the Department of Public Expenditure and Reform, has been in 
place in Teagasc for the year ended 31 December 2018 and up to the date of approval of the financial statements. 

Capacity to handle risk 

Teagasc has an Audit and Risk Committee (ARC) comprising three Authority members, one of whom is the Chair, and one external 
member with financial and audit expertise. The ARC met four times in 2018. 

Teagasc has also established an internal audit function which is adequately resourced and conducts a programme of work agreed with 
the ARC. 

The ARC has reviewed the risk management policy which sets out its risk appetite, the risk management processes in place and details 
the roles and responsibilities of staff in relation to risk. The policy has been issued to all staff who are expected to work within Teagasc’s 
risk management policies, to alert management on emerging risks and control weaknesses and assume responsibility for risks and 
controls within their own area of work. 

Risk and control framework 

Teagasc has implemented a risk management system which identifies and reports key risks and the management actions being taken to 
address and, to the extent possible, to mitigate those risks. 

A risk register is in place which identifies the key risks facing Teagasc and these have been identified, evaluated and graded according to 
their significance. The register is reviewed and updated by the ARC on a quarterly basis. The outcome of these assessments is used to 
plan and allocate resources to ensure risks are managed to an acceptable level. 

The risk register details the controls and actions needed to mitigate risks and responsibility for operation of controls assigned to specific 
staff. I confirm that a control environment containing the following elements is in place: 

• procedures for all key business processes have been documented, 

• financial responsibilities have been assigned at management level with corresponding accountability, 

• there is an appropriate budgeting system with an annual budget which is kept under review by senior management, 

• there are systems aimed at ensuring the security of the information and communication technology systems, 

• there are systems in place to safeguard the assets, and 

• control procedures over grant funding to outside agencies ensure adequate control over approval of grants and monitoring and 
review of grantees to ensure grant funding has been applied for the purpose intended. 
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Ongoing monitoring and review 

Formal procedures have been established for monitoring control processes and control deficiencies are communicated to those 
responsible for taking corrective action and to management and the Authority, where relevant, in a timely way. I confirm that the following 
ongoing monitoring systems are in place: 

• key risks and related controls have been identified and processes have been put in place to monitor the operation of those key 
controls and report any identified deficiencies, 

• reporting arrangements have been established at all levels where responsibility for financial management has been assigned, and 

• there are regular reviews by senior management of periodic and annual performance and financial reports which indicate 
performance against budgets/ forecasts. 

Procurement

I confirm that Teagasc has procedures in place to ensure compliance with procurement rules and guidelines.  Teagasc reviews the 
compliance status of all contracts and purchase orders with a value greater than €25,000.  In 2018 Teagasc found that of the 387 contracts 
and purchase orders, out of €42m general operating expenditure, those relating to 7 suppliers were non-compliant and the value of the non-
compliant contracts and purchase orders was €1.196m. These contracts, including services such as telecommunications, outsourcing, 
animal feed and cleaning, are in the process of being tendered for and will become compliant in 2019. One telecommunications contract 
is being moved to the Government network or tendered for on a phased basis.  Non-compliant transactions with 3 of the 7 suppliers were 
first identified in 2017.  These are complex procurements relating to telecommunications and outsourcing contracts and the rectification 
process commenced in 2017 and was continued in 2018.  The total non-compliant spend on these contracts in 2018 was €630,000. 

Review of effectiveness

I confirm that Teagasc has procedures to monitor the effectiveness of its risk management and control procedures. Teagasc’s monitoring 
and review of the effectiveness of the system of internal financial control is informed by the work of the internal and external auditors, the 
Audit and Risk Committee which oversees their work and the senior management within Teagasc responsible for the development and 
maintenance of the internal financial control framework.

I confirm that the Authority conducted an annual review of the effectiveness of the internal controls for 2018.

Internal control issues

No weaknesses in internal control, apart from those noted under Procurement, were identified in relation to 2018 that require disclosure 
in the financial statements.

Mr. Liam Herlihy
Chairman
19 June 2019
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Governance 

The Authority of Teagasc was established under the Agriculture (Research, Training and Advice) Act, 1988. The functions of the Authority 
are set out in the First Schedule of this Act. The Authority is accountable to the Minister for Agriculture, Food and the Marine and 
is responsible for ensuring good governance and performs this task by setting strategic objectives and targets and taking strategic 
decisions on all key business issues. The regular day-to-day management, control and direction of Teagasc are the responsibility of the 
Director and the senior management team. The Director and the senior management team must follow the broad strategic direction set 
by the Authority, and must ensure that all Authority members have a clear understanding of the key activities and decisions related to the 
entity, and of any significant risks likely to arise. The Director acts as a direct liaison between the Authority and management of Teagasc.
 
Authority responsibilities 

The work and responsibilities of the Authority are set out in the Agriculture (Research, Training and Advice) Act, 1988, which also contain 
the matters specifically reserved for Authority decision. Standing items considered by the Authority include: 

• declaration of interests, 

• reports from committees, 

• financial reports/ management accounts, 

• performance reports, and 

• reserved matters. 

Section 12(1) of the Agriculture (Research, Training and Advice) Act, 1988 requires the Authority of Teagasc to keep, in such form as 
may be approved by the Minister for Agriculture, Food and the Marine with consent of the Minister for Public Expenditure and Reform, all 
proper and usual accounts of money received and expended by it. 

In preparing these financial statements the Authority of Teagasc is required to: 

• select suitable accounting policies and apply them consistently, 

• make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent, 

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that it will continue in operation, 
and 

• state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in 
the financial statements. 

The Authority is responsible for keeping adequate accounting records which disclose, with reasonable accuracy at any time, its financial 
position and enables it to ensure that the financial statements comply with Section 12(1) of the Agriculture (Research, Training and Advice) 
Act, 1988. The maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information on the Teagasc website is the responsibility of the 
Authority.

The Authority is responsible for approving the annual business plan and budget. An evaluation of the performance of Teagasc by 
reference to the annual business plan and budget was carried out on 06 March 2019.

The Authority is also responsible for safeguarding its assets and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of 
fraud and other irregularities. 

The Authority considers that the financial statements of Teagasc give a true and fair view of the financial performance and the financial 
position of Teagasc at 31 December 2018. 

Authority performance review
 
Teagasc conducted an Authority internal performance evaluation in late 2017. Given the large turnover in Authority members in 2018 
it was decided that instead of progressing another internal evaluation in late 2018 that an external performance evaluation would be 
undertaken in the first half of 2019.
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Authority structure 

The Authority consists of a Chairperson and ten ordinary members, all of whom are appointed by the Minister for Agriculture, Food and 
the Marine. The members of the Authority are typically appointed for a period of five years (and may be re-appointed for a second term) 
and meet on a monthly basis, except in August. The table below details the appointment period for the Authority members in place during 
2018:

Authority member Role Period of appointment

Herlihy, Mr. Liam Chairperson 17 September 2018 – 16 September 2023

Cawley, Dr. Noel Chairperson 17 September 2008 – 16 September 2018

Buckley, Mr. John Ordinary Member 28 September 2018 – 27 September 2023

Cooke, Mr. Tommy Ordinary Member 05 October 2011 – 04 October 2021

Duffy, Mr. Patrick Ordinary Member 28 September 2018 – 27 September 2023

Fitzgerald, Prof. Gerald Ordinary Member 15 September 2013 – 14 September 2023

Gibbons, Mr. Padraig Ordinary Member 15 September 2008 – 14 September 2018

Gleeson, Mr. Brendan Ordinary Member 09 January 2013 – 29 October 2018

Hennessy, Prof. Thia Ordinary Member 23 May 2018 – 22 May 2023

Jagoe, Mr. Alan Ordinary Member 15 September 2013 – 14 September 2018

Kennedy, Mr. Richard Ordinary Member 25 May 2016 – 26 January 2020

Larkin, Mr. Joseph Ordinary Member 10 October 2014 – 09 October 2019

Murphy, Ms. Cliona Ordinary Member 29 April 2015 – 28 April 2020

O’Connell, Ms. Eilís Ordinary Member 30 October 2018 – 21 January 2023

Pierce, Dr. Karina Ordinary Member 09 January 2013 – 08 January 2018

Woulfe, Mr. Liam Ordinary Member 29 April 2015 – 28 April 2020

The Authority has established five committees, as follows: 

1. Audit and Risk Committee (ARC): comprises three Authority members and one external member. The role of the ARC is to support 
the Authority in relation to its responsibilities for issues of risk, control and governance and associated assurance. The ARC is independent 
from the financial management of the organisation. In particular the Committee ensures that the internal control systems including audit 
activities are monitored actively and independently. The ARC reports to the Authority after each meeting, and formally in writing annually. 

The Authority members of the Audit and Risk Committee during 2018 were: Mr. Liam Woulfe, Chairperson, Mr. Padraig Gibbons and Mr. 
Brendan Gleeson. There were four meetings of the ARC in 2018. During 2018 Mr. Gibbons and Mr. Gleeson completed their terms on 
the Authority and they were replaced on the committee by Prof. Thia Hennessy and Ms. Eilís O’Connell. 

2. Operations Committee (OC): comprises four Authority members. The role of the OC is to support the Authority in reviewing and 
considering matters relating to the Operations Programme in Teagasc and to report and make recommendations to the Authority, as well 
as adopting good practice. The Authority members of this committee were: Mr. Tommy Cooke, Chairperson, Dr. Noel Cawley, Ms. Cliona 
Murphy and Mr. Joe Larkin. There were three meetings of the OC in 2018. During 2018 Dr. Cawley completed his term on the Authority 
and was replaced on the committee by Mr. Liam Herlihy. 

3. Advisory & Education Committee (AEC): comprises five Authority members. The role of the AEC is to support the Authority in reviewing 
and considering matters relating to the Advisory and Education Programmes in Teagasc and to report and make recommendations to the 
Authority, as well as adopting good practice. The Authority members of this committee during 2018 were: Mr. Alan Jagoe, Chairperson, 
Mr. Padraig Gibbons, Mr. Joe Larkin, Mr. Richard Kennedy and Mr. Tommy Cooke. There were six meetings of the AEC in 2018. During 
2018 Mr. Jagoe and Mr. Gibbons completed their terms on the Authority and they were replaced on the committee by Mr. John Buckley 
and Mr. Patrick Duffy.
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4. Research Committee (RC): comprises four Authority members. The role of the RC is to support the Authority in reviewing and 
considering matters relating to the Research Programmes in Teagasc and to report and make recommendations to the Authority, as well 
as adopting good practice.   

The members of this committee during 2018 were: Prof. Gerald Fitzgerald, Chairperson, Mr. Richard Kennedy, Mr. Joe Larkin, Dr. Karina 
Pierce and Mr. Alan Jagoe. There were two meetings of the RC in 2018. During 2018 Dr. Karina Pierce and Mr. Jagoe completed their 
terms on the Authority and were replaced on the committee by Prof. Thia Hennessy and Mr. John Buckley. 

5. Nominations Committee (NC): comprises six Authority members. The role of the NC is to consider vacancies on the Teagasc 
Authority and make recommendations on how best to fill the vacancies. The members of this committee during 2018 were: Dr. Noel 
Cawley, Chairperson, Prof. Gerald Fitzgerald, Mr. Tommy Cooke, Ms. Cliona Murphy, Dr. Karina Pierce and Mr. Padraig Gibbons. There 
was one meeting of the NC in 2018. During 2018 Dr. Cawley, Mr. Gibbons and Dr. Pierce completed their terms on the Authority and they 
were replaced on the committee by Mr. Liam Herlihy, Prof. Thia Hennessy and Mr. Patrick Duffy. 

Schedule of attendance, fees and expenses 

Schedule of attendances at the Authority and Committee meetings for 2018 is set out below including the fees and expenses received 
by each member:

Authority Meetings 2018
03 -
Jan

07 -
Feb

07 -
Mar

04 -
Apr

02 -
May

06 - 
Jun

04 - 
Jul

05 - 
Sep

03 - 
Oct

07 - 
Nov

05 - 
Dec

Fees
2018

€

Expenses 
2018

€

Herlihy, Mr. Liam √ √ √ - -

Cawley, Dr. Noel - √ √ √ √ √ √ √ 15,390 2,447

Buckley, Mr. John √ √ √ 3,990 1,647

Cooke, Mr. Tommy √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ 11,970 2,924

Duffy, Mr. Patrick - √ √ 3,990 543

Fitzgerald, Prof. Gerald √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ - √ √ - 2,015

Gibbons, Mr. Padraig √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ 8,978 5,009

Gleeson, Mr. Brendan √ - √ √ √ √ - - - - 78

Hennessy, Prof. Thia - - √ √ √ √ - 890

Jagoe, Mr. Alan √ - √ √ √ √ √ √ 8,978 4,009

Kennedy, Mr. Richard - √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ 11,970 1,605

Larkin, Mr. Joe √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ - 2,585

Murphy, Ms. Cliona √ √ √ √ - √ √ - √ √ √ - 2,452

O’Connell, Ms. Eilís - √ - -

Pierce, Dr Karina √ - 65

Woulfe, Mr. Liam - √ √ - √ √ √ √ √ √ √ 11,970 2,567

77,236 28,836

There were six Authority members who did not receive a fee under the One Person One Salary (OPOS) principle. Ms. Cliona Murphy, who 
has been entitled to a fee since 2015, waived her right to the entitlement.
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Key Personnel Changes 

Following five retirements/ resignations five new members were appointed to the Authority during 2018 and one member was reappointed.   

Nominations Committee 03 -
Apr

Cawley, Dr. Noel √

Fitzgerald, Prof. Gerald √

Cooke, Mr. Tommy √

Gibbons, Mr. Padraig √

Murphy, Ms. Cliona √

Pierce, Dr. Karina -

Herlihy, Mr. Liam

Hennessy, Prof. Thia

Duffy, Mr. Patrick

Audit & Risk Committee 23 -
Feb

04 -
Jul

05 - 
Dec

20 -
Dec

Woulfe, Mr. Liam √ √ √ √

Gibbons, Mr. Padraig √ √

Gleeson, Mr. Brendan - -

O’Connell, Mr. Noel √ √ √ √

Hennessy, Prof. Thia √ √

O’Connell, Ms. Eilís √ √

Operations Committee 27 - 
Feb

27 -
Aug

20 -
Dec

Cooke, Mr. Tommy √ √ √

Cawley, Dr. Noel √ √

Murphy, Ms. Cliona √ - √

Larkin, Mr. Joe √ - √

Herlihy, Mr. Liam -

Research Committee 06 -
Jun

16 -
Nov

Fitzgerald, Prof. Gerald √ √

Kennedy, Mr. Richard √ √

Larkin, Mr. Joe √ √

Jagoe, Mr. Alan √

Hennessy, Prof. Thia -

Buckley, Mr. John

Advisory & Education Committee 07 -
Mar

06 -
Apr

20 -
Apr

06 -
Jun

26 -
Jul

05 -
Sep

Jagoe, Mr. Alan √ √ √ √ √ √

Gibbons, Mr. Padraig √ √ - √ - √

Larkin, Mr. Joe √ √ - √ √ √

Kennedy, Mr. Richard √ √ - √ √ √

Cooke, Mr. Tommy √ √ √ √ √ √

Buckley, Mr. John

Duffy, Mr. Patrick
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Disclosures required by the Code of Practice for the Governance of State Bodies (2016) 

The Authority is responsible for ensuring that Teagasc has complied with the requirements of the Code of Practice for the Governance of 
State Bodies (“the Code”), as published by the Department of Public Expenditure and Reform in August 2016. The following disclosures 
are required by the Code:

Consultancy costs 

Consultancy costs include the cost of external advice to management and exclude outsourced ‘business-as-usual’ functions.

2018 2017

€'000 €'000

Legal advice 400 448

Financial/ tax advice 115 175

Pensions/ human resources 78 56

Architectural/ engineering advice 1,034 887

Research advice 347 401

Other 215 307

Total consultancy costs 2,189 2,274

Consultancy costs capitalised 837 324

Consultancy costs charged to Income and Expenditure and Retained Revenue Reserves 1,352 1,950

Total 2,189 2,274

Legal costs and settlements 

The table below provides a breakdown of amounts recognised as expenditure in the reporting period in relation to legal costs, settlements 
and conciliation and arbitration proceedings relating to contracts with third parties. This does not include expenditure incurred in relation 
to general legal advice received by Teagasc which is disclosed in Consultancy costs above.

2018 2017

€'000 €'000

Legal fees – legal proceedings 81 2

Counterparty legal costs 17 -

Settlements 179 227

Total 277 229
   
The total number of cases included in the 2018 settlements is 22 (2017: 23).

Travel and subsistence expenditure 

Travel and subsistence expenditure is categorised as follows:

2018 2017

Domestic €’000 €’000

Authority 30 30

Employees 4,794 4,594

International

Authority - -

Employees 814 770

5,638 5,394
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Hospitality expenditure 

The Income and Expenditure Account includes the following hospitality expenditure:

2018 2017

€'000 €'000

Staff hospitality 28 20

Client hospitality 12 5

Total 40 25

In accordance with their employment/ placement agreements some staff and students are entitled to meals in college canteens. The cost 
of provision of these meals in 2018 was €32,658 (2017: €32,219).

Teagasc has a 10 year premium seat sponsorship agreement with Croke Park at an annual cost of €4,800 for staff incentive and 
stakeholder entertainment. The costs attributable to staff incentives in 2018 were €4,800.

Statement of compliance 

The Authority has adopted the Code of Practice for the Governance of State Bodies (2016) and has put procedures in place to ensure 
compliance with the Code. Teagasc was in compliance with the Code of Practice for the Governance of State Bodies for 2018.

Mr. Liam Herlihy          Ms. Eilís O'Connell
Chairman           Member of the Authority
19 June 2019          19 June 2019
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2018 2017

Notes €’000 €’000

Income

Oireachtas grants 4 149,171 142,591

EU funding 5 2,045 2,016

Sale of livestock 2,692 3,926

Operational income 6 33,245 33,603

Net deferred funding for retirement benefits 10 (2,644) (3,507)

Gain/ (loss) on disposal of fixed assets 12 34 (192)

Other grants, donations and voluntary levies 5,693 3,222

Sale of goods 103 71

Research and technology services 1,867 1,488

Total Income 192,206 183,218

Expenditure 7 (186,612) (178,195)

Operating surplus 5,594 5,023      

Interest receivable 15 18

Surplus before transfers and taxation 5,609 5,041

Transfer to Capital Account 23 (4,802) (2,597)

Surplus for the financial year before taxation 807 2,444 

Taxation 11 (18) (46)

Surplus for the financial year 789 2,398

Surplus attributable to 

Teagasc 739 2,280

Non-controlling interest 50 118

789 2,398  
    
The Statement of Cash Flow and Notes 1-35 form part of these financial statements.

Mr. Liam Herlihy          Professor Gerry Boyle
Chairman           Director
19 June 2019          19 June 2019
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2018 2017

Notes €’000 €’000

Surplus for the financial year 789 2,398

Actuarial gain/ (loss) on retirement benefit liabilities 10 136,676 (59,741)

Adjustment to deferred retirement benefit funding 10 (136,676) 59,741

Total comprehensive income for the year 789 2,398

Teagasc 739 2,280

Non-controlling interest 50 118

789 2,398

The Statement of Cash Flow and Notes 1-35 form part of these financial statements.
 
 

Mr. Liam Herlihy          Professor Gerry Boyle
Chairman           Director
19 June 2019          19 June 2019
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         Group Teagasc

2018 2017 2018 2017

Note €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 12 110,865 101,369 102,981 98,179

Investments 14 719 438 720 439

111,584 101,807 103,701 98,618

Current assets

Inventories 15 5,265 5,862 5,265 5,862

Receivables: amounts falling due within one year 17 27,610 26,913 27,005 26,528

Cash and cash equivalents 18 27,645 20,995 25,709 19,410

60,520 53,770 57,979 51,800

Payables: amounts falling due within one year

Payables and accruals 19 18,802 20,145 18,314 19,906

Deferred income 20 26,299 18,887 26,200 18,753

45,101 39,032 44,514 38,659

Net current assets 15,419 14,738 13,465 13,141

Total assets less current liabilities 127,003 116,545 117,166 111,759

Provisions for liabilities

Deferred tax 22 119 110 - -

Payables: amounts falling due after one year

Deferred income 21 354 468 108 175

126,530 115,967 117,058 111,584

Deferred retirement benefit funding 10 1,149,519 1,288,839 1,149,519 1,288,839

Retirement benefit liabilities 10 (1,149,519) (1,288,839) (1,149,519) (1,288,839)

Net assets 126,530 115,967 117,058 111,584

Capital and reserves

Capital account 102,981 98,179 102,981 98,179

Revenue reserves 15,533 14,744 14,077 13,405

Capital contribution 8,016 3,044 -                 -

126,530 115,967 117,058 111,584

Reserves attributable to Teagasc 120,445 112,344 117,058 111,584

Non-controlling interest 6,085 3,623 -                  -

126,530 115,967 117,058 111,584

The Statement of Cash Flow and Notes 1-35 form part of these financial statements. 

Mr. Liam Herlihy          Professor Gerry Boyle
Chairman           Director
19 June 2019          19 June 2019
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GROUP

Capital 
account

Capital 
contribution Revenue reserves

Capital 
contribution Total

Group

Non-
controlling 

interest

Non-
controlling 

interest

Note €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

At 1 January 2017 95,582 - 11,885 461 2,660 110,588

Surplus for the year - - 2,280 118 - 2,398

Actuarial loss on retirement benefit liabilities 10 - - (59,741) - - (59,741)

Adjustment to deferred retirement benefit funding 10 - - 59,741 - - 59,741

Total comprehensive income - - 2,280 118 - 2,398

Addition to capital contribution  - - - - 384 384

Amounts capitalised in respect of purchased assets  12 9,732 - - - - 9,732

Net amount released on disposals 12 (296) - - - - (296)

Less: amortised in line with asset depreciation       12 (6,941) - - - - (6,941)

Reversal of impairment loss 12 102 - - - - 102

At 31 December 2017 98,179 - 14,165 579 3,044 115,967

112,344 3,623 115,967

Surplus for the year - - 739 50 - 789

Actuarial gain on retirement benefit liabilities 10 - - 136,676 - - 136,676

Adjustment to deferred retirement benefit funding 10 - - (136,676) - - (136,676)

Total comprehensive income - - 739 50 - 789

Addition to capital contribution - 2,560 - - 2,412 4,972

Amounts capitalised in respect of purchased assets  12 12,899 - - - - 12,899

Net amount released on disposals 12 (468) - - - - (468)

Less: amortised in line with asset depreciation       12 (7,629) - - - - (7,629)

At 31 December 2018 102,981 2,560 14,904 629 5,456 126,530

120,445 6,085 126,530
 
The Statement of Cash Flow and Notes 1-35 form part of these financial statements.
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TEAGASC

Capital 
account

Revenue 
reserves Total

Note €’000 €’000 €’000

At 1 January 2017 95,582 11,281 106,863

Surplus for the year - 2,124 2,124

Actuarial loss on retirement benefit liabilities 10 - (59,741) (59,741)

Adjustment to deferred retirement benefit funding 10 - 59,741 59,741

Total comprehensive income - 2,124 2,124

Amounts capitalised in respect of purchased assets  12 9,732 - 9,732

Net amount released on disposals 12 (296) - (296)

Less: amortised in line with asset depreciation       12 (6,941) - (6,941)

Reversal of impairment loss 12 102 - 102

At 31 December 2017 98,179 13,405 111,584

Surplus for the year - 672 672

Actuarial gain on retirement benefit liabilities 10 - 136,676 136,676

Adjustment to deferred retirement benefit funding 10 - (136,676) (136,676)

Total comprehensive income - 672 672

Amounts capitalised in respect of purchased assets  12 12,899 - 12,899

Net amount released on disposals 12 (468) - (468)

Less: amortised in line with asset depreciation       12 (7,629) - (7,629)

Reversal of impairment loss 12 - - -

At 31 December 2018 102,981 14,077 117,058

The Statement of Cash Flow and Notes 1-35 form part of these financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW 
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2018

GROUP

2018 2017

Note €’000 €’000

Cash flow from operating activities 27 19,523 10,154

Interest paid (77) (54)

Taxation paid (9) (37)

Net cash flow from operating activities 19,437 10,063

Cash flow from investing activities

Payments to acquire tangible fixed assets 12 (18,058) (10,316)

Receipts from sales of tangible fixed assets 12 547 104

Payments to acquire investments 14 (263) (16)

Interest received 15 18

Receipt of capital contribution 4,972 385

Net cash used in investing activities (12,787) (9,825)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 6,650 238

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 20,995 20,757

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December  27,645 20,995

Cash and cash equivalents consists of:

Cash at bank and in hand 18 12,145 20,995

Short term deposits 18 15,500 -

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 27,645 20,995

The Statement of Cash Flow and Notes 1-35 form part of these financial statements. 



77

TEAGASC CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. General information

 Teagasc (the Agriculture and Food Development Authority of Ireland) was established under the Agriculture (Research, Training and 
Advice) Act, 1988. The mission is to support science-based innovation in the agri-food sector and the broader bioeconomy that 
will underpin profitability, competitiveness and sustainability. Teagasc’s principal and registered office is at Oak Park, Carlow. 

 Teagasc owns a 57% share in Moorepark Technology Limited whose principal activity is the provision of services for Research and 
Development.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies

 The basis of accounting, and significant accounting policies adopted by Teagasc, are set out below. They have all been applied 
consistently throughout the year and for the preceding year.

 2.1 Statement of compliance 

 The financial statements of Teagasc for the year ended 31 December 2018 have been prepared in accordance with FRS 102, the 
financial reporting standard applicable in the UK and Ireland issued by the Financial Reporting Council (FRC). 

 2.2 Basis of consolidation

 For the purposes of these financial statements, the ‘Teagasc Group’ comprises the parent entity Teagasc and its subsidiary 
Moorepark Technology Limited. The accounting policies and accounting period of the subsidiary are consistent with those of 
the Group. Inter-company transactions and balances and gains on transactions between group companies are eliminated. The 
investment in the subsidiary is accounted for at cost less impairment. Details of the subsidiary are provided in Note 14.

 2.3 Basis of preparation

 The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for certain assets and liabilities that are 
measured at fair values as explained in the accounting policies below. The financial statements are in the form approved by the 
Minister for Agriculture, Food and the Marine with the concurrence of the Minister for Finance under Section 12 of the Agriculture 
(Research, Training and Advice) Act 1988. The following accounting policies have been applied consistently in dealing with items 
which are considered material in relation to Teagasc’s financial statements.

 2.4 Revenue recognition

 Oireachtas grants
 Teagasc receives government grants in respect of research and other projects (revenue grants) and capital grants to fund capital 

investment. Revenue grants that do not include performance criteria are recognised as income on a cash receipts basis. Grants 
received which impose specific performance criteria are charged to deferred income and recorded as a creditor until the relevant 
performance criteria have been met and the grants are recognised as income. Capital grants are released to income over the 
expected useful life of the relevant asset purchased.

 Sale of goods 
 Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have passed to the 

buyer, usually on dispatch of the goods, the amount of revenue can be measured reliably, it is probable that the economic benefits 
associated with the transaction will flow to the entity and the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be 
measured reliably.
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 Advisory fees
 Teagasc receives income for annual advisory service contracts, annual discussion group contracts and additional advisory services 

provided. Income from annual advisory service contracts is recognised in the accounting period when the relevant invoice has 
issued. Income in relation to discussion group contracts and additional advisory services is recognised in the accounting period in 
which the service is rendered and the outcome of the contract can be estimated reliably.

 Accrued income 
 Income earned on goods/ services delivered, but unbilled, is recognised in accordance with contractual terms as accrued income 

on the Statement of Financial Position. Income earned on research projects, but unclaimed, is recognised as accrued income on 
the Statement of Financial Position, taking into account the individual rules of all funding bodies.

 Royalty income
 Royalty income is recognised on an accruals basis in accordance with the substance of the relevant agreements. 

 Tuition fees
 Revenue is recognised over the period of instruction.

 Comparative figures
 Comparative figures have been regrouped and reanalysed, where necessary, on the same basis as those for the current period.

 2.5 Employee benefits

 The Group provides a range of benefits to employees, including paid holiday arrangements and defined benefit pension plans.

 Short term benefits
 Short term benefits, including holiday pay and other similar non-monetary benefits, are recognised as an expense in the period in 

which the service is receivable.

 Defined benefit pension plans
 The Group operates defined benefit pension schemes which are funded annually on a pay as you go basis from monies available 

to it, including monies provided by the Department of Agriculture, Food and the Marine, and from contributions deducted from staff 
salaries.  Pension Scheme liabilities are measured on an actuarial basis using the projected unit method. Actuarial valuations are 
obtained annually and are updated at each Statement of Financial Position date.

          
 Teagasc also operates the Single Public Services Pension Scheme (Single Scheme), which is the defined benefit scheme for 

pensionable public servants appointed on or after 01 January 2013. Single Scheme members’ contributions are paid over to the 
Department of Public Expenditure and Reform.

 Retirement benefit costs reflect retirement benefits earned by employees in the period and are shown net of staff pension 
contributions which are retained by the Group. An amount corresponding to the retirement benefit charge is recognised as income 
to the extent that it is recoverable, and offset by grants received in the year to discharge retirement benefit payments.

 Actuarial gains or losses arising from changes in actuarial assumptions and from experience surpluses and deficits are recognised 
in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year and a corresponding adjustment is recognised in the amount 
recoverable from the Department of Agriculture, Food and the Marine.

 Retirement benefit liabilities represent the present value of future retirement benefit payments earned by staff to date. Deferred 
retirement benefit funding represents the corresponding asset to be recovered in future periods from the Department of Agriculture, 
Food and the Marine.
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 2.6 Leases

 At inception Teagasc assesses agreements that transfer the right to use assets. The assessment considers whether the arrangement 
is, or contains, a lease based on the substance of the arrangement.

 Operating leases
 Leases that do not transfer all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as operating leases. Payments under operating 

leases are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

 2.7 Taxation
 
 The taxation expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax recognised in the reporting period. Tax is recognised in the 

income statement. Current or deferred taxation assets and liabilities are not discounted.

 Current tax
 Current tax is the amount of income tax payable in respect of the taxable profit for the year or prior years. Tax is calculated on the 

basis of tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the period end.

 Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation 
is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax 
authorities.

 Deferred tax
 Deferred tax arises from timing differences that are differences between taxable profits and total comprehensive income as stated 

in the financial statements. These timing differences arise from the inclusion of income and expenses in tax assessments in periods 
different from those in which they are recognised in financial statements.

 Deferred tax is recognised on all timing differences at the reporting date except for certain exceptions. Unrelieved tax losses and 
other deferred tax assets are only recognised when it is probable that they will be recovered against the reversal of deferred tax 
liabilities or other future taxable profits.

 Deferred tax is measured using tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the period end and that are 
expected to apply to the reversal of the timing difference.

 2.8 Research and development

 Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

 2.9 Tangible assets

 Property, plant and equipment
 Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Such costs 

include costs directly attributable to making the asset capable of operating as intended. 

 Land is not depreciated. Assets under construction are not depreciated. Depreciation is provided on all property, plant and 
equipment at rates calculated to write off the cost, less estimated residual value, of each asset on a systematic basis over its 
expected useful life as follows:

 Computer equipment 3 years
 Plant and vehicles 5 years
 Laboratory and office equipment 10 years
 Industrial plant and equipment 10 years
 Farm buildings 20 years
 Industrial and manufacturing buildings 30 years
 Other buildings 50 years

 A half year's depreciation is charged in the year of acquisition and disposal of assets.
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 The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. If there is an indication of impairment the impairment loss, or the reversal 
of an impairment loss, is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

 The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted as appropriate, at the end of each 
financial year.

 The gain or loss, being the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, arising on disposal or 
retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in profit or loss. Any amount in the revaluation reserve relating 
to that asset is transferred to retained earnings directly.

 Fully depreciated plant and equipment is retained in the financial statements until it is no longer in use.

 Assets for re-sale 
 Tangible assets are classified as held for sale when the carrying amount is expected to be recovered principally through a sale 

transaction and a sale is highly probable. They are stated at the lower of carrying amount or fair value less cost to sell.

 Impairment of non-financial assets
 At each financial year end date non-financial assets not carried at fair value are assessed to determine whether there is an indication 

that the asset (or asset’s cash generating unit) may be impaired. If there is such an indication the recoverable amount of the asset 
(or asset’s cash generating unit) is compared to the carrying amount of the asset (or asset’s cash generating unit).

 2.10 Financial assets

 Investment in subsidiary 
 The investment in the subsidiary Moorepark Technology Limited is measured at cost less impairment. If there is objective evidence 

of impairment, an impairment loss is recognised in the Statement of Income and Expenditure in the year.

 Other investments
 Investments listed on a recognised stock exchange are measured at their fair value, and movements are recorded through the 

Statement of Income and Expenditure and Retained Revenue Reserves. Other financial assets comprising investments in unquoted 
shares and financial investments are measured at their fair value if this can be reliably determined; otherwise they are measured at 
the value attributed to them at the date of acquisition less impairment. If there is objective evidence of impairment, an impairment 
loss is recognised in the Statement of Income and Expenditure and Retained Revenue Reserves in the year.

 2.11 Inventory

 Biological assets
 Livestock and own farm produce are valued at the fair value model. Fair value is determined on the basis that animals are sold on 

the open market. Gains and losses, which arise from these valuations, are reflected in full in operational income.  

 Other inventory
 All other inventory is stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

 2.12 Receivables

 Receivables are recognised at fair value, less a provision for impairments. The provision for impairments is a specific provision, and 
is established when there is objective evidence that Teagasc will not be able to collect all amounts owed to it. All movements in the 
provision for impairments are recognised in the Statement of Income and Expenditure.
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 2.13 Payables 

 Payables, including trade and other payables and deferred income are initially recognised at transaction price, unless the 
arrangement constitutes a financing transaction, where the debt instrument is measured at the present value of the future receipts 
discounted at a market rate of interest.

 2.14 Provisions and contingencies

 Provisions
 Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is probable 

that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the amount of the obligation can be estimated reliably.

 Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax 
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the 
provision due to passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.

 Contingencies
 Contingent liabilities, arising as a result of past events, are not recognised when (i) it is not probable that there will be an outflow of 

resources or that the amount cannot be reliably measured at the reporting date or (ii) when the existence will be confirmed by the 
occurrence or non-occurrence of uncertain future events not wholly within the Group’s control. Contingent liabilities are disclosed 
in the financial statements unless the probability of an outflow of resources is remote.

 Contingent assets are not recognised. Contingent assets are disclosed in the financial statements when an inflow of economic 
benefits is probable.

3. Critical accounting estimates and judgments

 The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the 
amounts reported for assets and liabilities as at the Statement of Financial Position date and the amounts reported for revenues 
and expenses during the year. However, the nature of estimation means that actual outcomes could differ from those estimates. 
The following judgements have had the most significant effect on amounts recognised in the financial statements:

 Useful economic lives of property, plant and equipment
 The Group depreciates the tangible fixed assets over their estimated useful lives after taking into account their estimated residual 

values. The estimated useful life reflects management’s estimate of the period that the Group intends to derive future economic 
benefits from the use of the Group’s tangible fixed assets. The residual value reflects management’s estimated amount that the 
Group would currently obtain from the disposal of the asset, after deducting the estimated costs of disposal, as if the asset 
were already of the age and in the condition expected at the end of its useful life. Changes in the expected level of usage and 
technological developments could affect the economics, useful lives and the residual values of these assets which could then 
consequentially impact future depreciation charges. See Note 12 for the carrying amount of tangible fixed assets.

 Valuation of investments
 At the end of each financial year, an assessment is made on whether there are indicators that Teagasc’s investment in the subsidiary 

is impaired. Where necessary, Teagasc’s assessments are based on the estimation of the value-in-use of the assets by forecasting 
the expected future cash flows for a period of up to 5 years, using a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value 
of those cash flows. See Note 14 for the carrying amount of investments. 
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 Impairment of receivables
 Teagasc assesses receivables on a continuous basis for any objective evidence of impairment by considering factors, including the 

ageing profile, the creditworthiness and the past collection history of each debtor. If the financial conditions of these debtors were 
to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make payments, additional allowances may be required.   See Note 17 
for the carrying amount of trade and other receivables.

 Retirement benefit obligation
 Teagasc has an obligation to pay retirement benefits to certain employees. The cost of these benefits and the present value of 

the obligation depend on a number of factors, including; life expectancy, salary increases, asset valuations and the discount rate 
on corporate bonds. Management estimates these factors in determining the net retirement benefit obligation in the Statement of 
Financial Position. The assumptions reflect historical experience and current trends. See Note 10 for the disclosures relating to the 
retirement benefit scheme.

 Provisions
 The Group makes provisions for legal and constructive obligations, which it knows to be outstanding at the year-end date.  

These provisions are generally made based on historical or other pertinent information, adjusted for recent trends where relevant.  
However, they are estimates of the financial costs of events that may not occur for some years.   As a result of this and the level of 
uncertainty attaching to the financial outcomes, the actual outcome may differ significantly from that estimated.
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4. Oireachtas grants 

2018 2017

                                                                              Subhead €'000 €'000

Vote 30: Agriculture, Food and the Marine Grant-in-aid for general expenses C.5 122,629 117,677

Grant for human resource purposes C.5 10,500 10,500

Grant for Johnstown Castle development C.11 2,500 950

Food research and agriculture research C.3 3,954 4,323

Stimulus collaborative research programme C.3 3,118 3,927

GLAS scheme B.3 310 783

Beef genomics scheme B.6 - 150

Knowledge transfer programme B.7 3,685 4,055

Prepared consumer foods centre C.4 2,288 -

Carbon navigator C.10 36 36

Grant for forestry publicity and awareness and training C.6 670 600

Grant for forestry education C.6 38 77

Single pension scheme members’ contributions (557) (487)

149,171 142,591

 A grant without any performance criteria is recognised in income when the grant proceeds are received. Oireachtas grants received 
which impose specified future performance conditions are recognised in income when those conditions have been met. Oireachtas 
grants, received before income recognition is satisfied, are recorded as separate liabilities in the Statement of Financial Position. At 
year end, Teagasc had unfilled conditions included in the Statement of Financial Position as liabilities with respect to the following:

          

2018 2017

Note €'000 €'000

Food research and agriculture research 20 2,335 1,833

Stimulus collaborative research programme 20 2,018 2,538

Prepared consumer foods centre 20 2,572 -

6,925 4,371

5. EU funding

2018 2017

€'000 €'000

Farm Survey Income 148 144

INTERREG 153 92

Marie Curie 165 64

Framework Programme VII 31 559

Horizon 2020 1,492 1,054                                                                

Other EU Income 56 103

2,045 2,016
 
 Horizon 2020 is the main financial tool through which the European Union supports research and development activities covering 

almost all scientific disciplines. This started in 2015 and runs to the end of 2020.
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5. EU funding (continued)

 A grant without any performance criteria is recognised in income when the grant proceeds are received. EU grants received which 
impose specified future performance conditions are recognised in income when those conditions have been met. EU grants, 
received before income recognition is satisfied, are recorded as separate liabilities in the Statement of Financial Position. At year 
end, Teagasc had unfilled conditions included in the Statement of Financial Position as liabilities with respect to the following:

     2018 2017

Note €'000 €'000

Framework Programme VII 244 319

Horizon 2020 6,628 4,215

Marie Curie 244 43

Other EU Income 215 143

20 7,331 4,720
 
6. Operational income

Operations
Knowledge 

Transfer Research 2018 2017

€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000

Advisory service fees - 10,375 208 10,583 11,828

Course fee income 11 4,335 333 4,679 5,767

Other fees* 85 1,268 12,685 14,039 12,426

Other farming operations - 915 2,251 3,166 3,172

Publications and miscellaneous 288 76 415 778 410

384 16,969 15,892 33,245 33,603

* Included in Other fees are state grants from Science Foundation Ireland of €3.653m and Enterprise Ireland of €2.736m.

A grant without any performance criteria is recognised in income when the grant proceeds are received. State agency grants 
received which impose specified future performance conditions are recognised in income when those conditions have been 
met. State agency grants, received before income recognition is satisfied, are recorded as separate liabilities in the Statement of 
Financial Position. At year end, Teagasc had unfilled conditions included in the Statement of Financial Position as liabilities with 
respect to the following:           
 

2018 2017

Note €’000 €’000

Science Foundation Ireland 20 5,074 3,213

Enterprise Ireland 20 3,146 1,738

8,220 4,951
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7. Expenditure

Operations
Knowledge 

Transfer Research 2018 2017

€’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

Pay (Note 9) 5,919 31,702 37,701 75,322 72,817

Travelling and subsistence 385 2,505 2,765 5,655 5,394

Staff training 410 6 116 532 686

General operating expenses (Note 8) 8,825 12,197 21,000 42,022 41,835

Financial charges 162 214 6 382 439

Depreciation (Note 12) 190 1,570 6,288 8,047 7,272

Grants to private colleges (Note 28) - 2,921 - 2,921 2,959

Student grants - 532 15 547 606

Cost of livestock purchases - 19 737 756 650

Reversal of impairment loss (Note 12) - - - - (102)

Cost of research and development services - - 133 133 130

Walsh fellowship grants - 703 5,611 6,314 6,102

Other grants 22 7 812 841 518

Capital contribution to Moorepark Technology Ltd - - 2,560 2,560 -

15,913 52,376 77,743 146,032 139,306

Retirement benefits (Note 10) 40,580 38,889

186,612 178,195

In 2018 154 (2017: 159) staff received overtime payments. The highest aggregate amount paid to an individual was €23,067 (2017: 
€23,002).
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8. Analysis of general operating expenses

Operations
Knowledge 

Transfer Research 2018 2017

€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000

Farming supplies/ services - 999 4,403 5,402 3,756

Maintenance/ repairs 425 1,840 4,382 6,647 8,281

Rents/ rates/ insurances 1,054 397 934 2,385 2,526

Postage/ telephones 689 1,007 320 2,016 2,049

Power/  fuel/ petrol 112 689 1,807 2,608 2,249

Laboratory supplies - 3 4,134 4,137 3,947

Printing/ stationery/ publicity 709 1,470 1,002 3,181 3,067

Seminar/ classroom/ library supplies 75 1,625 1,131 2,830 2,594

Services of external agencies* 942 3,225 860 5,027 6,377

Student and staff canteen supplies 97 259 371 727 736

Audit fee 61 - 12 73 64

ICT supplies/ services 3,340 92 419 3,851 3,255

Legal/ professional fees** 1,276 419 757 2,452 2,243

Miscellaneous programme costs - 151 391 542 622

Special events and miscellaneous 45 21 78 144 69

8,825 12,197 21,000 42,022 41,835
 

* Included in Services of external agencies is GLAS scheme expenditure of €1.462m. This is part of the Rural Development 
Programme 2015-2020 and commenced in 2015.

** It was deemed more appropriate to reclassify professional fees in relation to a number of suppliers from ‘Legal/ professional fees’ 
to ‘Services of external agencies’. The 2017 comparatives have been adjusted accordingly.

9. Staff

The average number of staff employed by the Group during the year was as follows:

2018 2017

Professional 743 728

Technical 156 152

Administrative/ clerical 215 210

Farm/ domestic 116 127

1,230 1,217

Pension related deductions of €3,222,263 (2017: €3,100,963) were deducted from salaries and paid to the Department of 
Agriculture, Food and the Marine.
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9. Staff (continued)

Employee short-term benefits breakdown

Employees’ short-term benefits in excess of €60,000 are categorised into the following bands:  

Group

Employee benefits Number of employees

€60,000 to €69,999 233

€70,000 to €79,999 66

€80,000 to €89,999 66

€90,000 to €99,999 33

€100,000 to €109,999 37

€110,000 to €119,999 14

€120,000 to €129,999 -

€130,000 to €139,999 -

€140,000 to €149,999 -

€150,000 to €159,999 4

Note: For the purposes of this disclosure, short-term employee benefits in relation to services rendered during the reporting period 
include salary, overtime, allowances and other payments made on behalf of the employee, but exclude employer’s PRSI.

Aggregate employee benefits

2018 2017

€’000 €’000

Staff short-term benefits 68,633 66,569

Termination benefits - 62

Retirement benefit costs 40,580 38,889

Employer’s contribution to social welfare 5,825 5,465

115,038 110,985

The total number of staff employed (WTE) at year end was 1,254 (2017: 1,266). 

Staff short-term benefits

2018 2017

€’000 €’000

Basic pay 65,859 63,851

Overtime 1,063 1,043

Allowances 1,711 1,675

68,633 66,569

Termination benefits

2018 2017

€’000 €’000

Termination benefits charged to income and expenditure - 62

- 62
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9. Staff (continued)

Key management personnel

Key management personnel in Teagasc consist of the members of the Authority, the Director and three divisional directors reporting 
to the Director. The total value of employee benefits for key management personnel is set out below:

2018 2017

€’000 €’000

Salaries and other short term benefits: 

Key management remuneration 690 673

690 673

This does not include the value of retirement benefits earned in the period. The key management personnel, except for those on 
the Authority, are members of the Teagasc pension scheme and their entitlements in that regard do not extend beyond the terms 
of the model public defined benefit superannuation scheme. 

Director’s salary and benefits
 
The Director’s remuneration for the financial period was as follows:

2018 2017

€’000 €’000

Basic pay 158 144

Benefit in kind (Car) - 10

158 154

The Director is a member of the Teagasc pension scheme and his entitlements in that regard do not extend beyond the model 
public sector defined benefit superannuation scheme. The value of retirement benefits earned in the period is not included above.

10. Retirement benefit plans

Section 9 of the Agriculture (Research, Training and Advice) Act, 1988 provides for the establishment of schemes for the granting 
of retirement benefits in respect of staff appointed by Teagasc and staff transferred to Teagasc from An Chomhairle Oiliuna 
Talmhaiochta and from An Foras Talúntais.

Pending the approval of draft pension schemes by the Minister for Agriculture, Food and the Marine, the Minister for Finance and 
the Oireachtas, Teagasc operates pension schemes on an administrative basis. 

Teagasc also administers two pension schemes (the Agricultural Colleges Staff Pension Scheme 1985 and the Agricultural Colleges 
Spouses' and Children's Contributory Pension Scheme 1985) in respect of certain staff employed by privately owned Colleges of 
Agriculture and Horticulture, the cost of whose salaries is borne by the Exchequer through the agency of Teagasc.

The above schemes are defined benefit pension schemes. No separate fund is maintained, and no assets are held, to finance the 
payment of retirement benefits and gratuities. The actuarial estimate of future liabilities accruing in regard to future benefits is shown 
on the Statement of Financial Position.

The average number of monthly retirement benefits paid during the year was 1,730 (2017: 1,732). 
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10. Retirement benefit plans (continued)

i. Analysis of total retirement benefit costs charged to income and expenditure account

2018 2017

€'000 €'000

Current service cost 21,665 20,392

Interest on scheme liabilities 22,526 21,996

Staff contributions (3,611) (3,499)

40,580 38,889

ii. Movement in net retirement benefit liability during the financial year

2018 2017

€'000 €'000

Net retirement benefit liability at 01 January 1,288,839 1,232,605

Current service cost 21,665 20,392

Benefits paid (46,835) (45,895)

Interest on scheme liabilities 22,526 21,996

Actuarial (gain)/ loss (136,676) 59,741

Net retirement benefit liability at 31 December 1,149,519 1,288,839

iii. Deferred funding asset for retirement benefits

Teagasc recognises as an asset an amount corresponding to the unfunded deferred liability for retirement benefits on the basis 
of the set of assumptions described below and a number of past events. These events include the statutory basis for the 
establishment of the pension schemes, and the policy and practice currently in place in relation to funding public service pensions 
including contributions by employees and the annual estimates process. While there is no formal agreement regarding these 
specific amounts with the Department of Agriculture, Food and the Marine, Teagasc has no evidence that this funding policy will 
not continue to meet such sums in accordance with current practice. 

Net deferred funding for retirement benefits in the year

2018 2017

€'000 €'000

Funding recoverable in respect of current years retirement benefits 44,191 42,388

Resources applied to pay retirement benefits (46,835)   (45,895)

(2,644) (3,507)

The deferred funding asset for retirement benefits as at 31 December 2018 was €1,150m (2017: €1,289m).
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10. Retirement benefit plans (continued)

iv. History of defined benefit obligations

2018 2017 2016 2015

€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000

Experience gain/ (loss) 70,948 (80,343) (13,272) 55,428

Percentage of present value of scheme liabilities 6.2% 6.2% 1.1% 4.7%

Changes in assumptions 65,728 20,602 (53,573) 118,660

Percentage of present value of scheme liabilities 5.7% 1.6% 4.4% 10.2%

Actuarial gain/ (loss) recognised in other comprehensive income 136,676 (59,741) (66,845) 174,088

The cumulative actuarial loss recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income amounts to €23.909m (2017: €160.585m).
  

v. General  description of the scheme

The pension scheme is a defined benefit final salary pension arrangement with benefits and contributions defined by reference to 
current "model" public sector scheme regulations. The scheme provides a retirement benefit (one eightieth per year of service), a 
gratuity lump sum (three eightieths per year of service) and spouse's and children's retirement benefits. Normal retirement age is a 
member's 65th birthday, and pre 2004 members have an entitlement to retire without actuarial reduction from age 60. Retirement 
benefits in payment (and deferment) normally increase in line with general public sector salary inflation.

Teagasc operates the Single Public Service Retirement Benefits Scheme (Single Scheme) which is the defined benefit scheme for 
pensionable public servants appointed on or after 01 January 2013. The scheme is based on a career averaging model, retirement 
for those entrants will be compulsory on reaching age 70.  

The valuation used for disclosures has been based on an actuarial valuation by a qualified independent actuary on 24 January 2019 
in order to assess the scheme liabilities at 31 December 2018.

The principal actuarial assumptions used to calculate liabilities are as follows:

2018 2017

% per 
annum

% per 
annum

Inflation rate increase 1.50 1.75

Salary rate increase 3.00 3.25

State pension increase 3.00 3.25

Pension rate increase – Main Scheme 2.25 2.50

Pension rate increase – Single Scheme 1.50 1.75

Scheme liabilities discount rate 1.80 1.80
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10. Retirement benefit plans (continued)

The mortality basis adopted allows for improvements in life expectancy over time, so that life expectancy at retirement will depend 
on the year in which a member attains retirement age (age 65). The table below shows the life expectancy for members attaining 
age 65 in 2018 and 2038.

   

Year of attaining 65 2018 2038

Life expectancy - males 86.4 88.8

Life expectancy - females 88.9 90.9

On the basis of these and other assumptions and applying the projected unit method the present value of pension scheme liabilities 
is as follows:

2018 2017

€'000 €'000

Total accrued retirement benefit liability 1,149,519 1,288,839

11. Tax on profit on ordinary activities

2018 2017

€'000 €'000

Based on results for the year:

Current tax charge 8 38

Deferred tax (Note 22) 9 9

17 47
 

Provision in respect of prior years:

Corporation tax 1 (1)

18 46

The tax charge for the year is lower than the charge that would result from applying the standard rate of Irish corporation tax to the 
profit on ordinary activities.  The differences are explained as follows:

2018 2017

€'000 €'000

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 807 2,444

Profit on ordinary activities multiplied by Standard rate of corporation tax in Ireland -12.5% 101 306

Effects of:

Excess of capital allowances over depreciation (22) (7)

Higher tax rate on profits 4 5

Unutilised trading losses 9 -

Parent profit on ordinary activities multiplied by 12.5% (84) (266)

Current tax charge for the year 8 38

The tax charge arises in the operations of the subsidiary Moorepark Technology Limited.
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12. Property, plant and equipment

GROUP

Land Buildings
Assets under 
construction

Plant and 
equipment Total

€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000

Cost or valuation

At 1 January 2017 6,381 133,494 1,032 86,113 227,020

Additions - 3,862 1,400 5,054 10,316

Buildings completed - - - - -

Disposals - (49) - (2,190) (2,239)

At 31 December 2017 6,381 137,307 2,432 88,977 235,097

Additions 334 4,144 7,548 6,031 18,058

Buildings completed - 1,039 (1,039) - -

Disposals (598) (468) - (6,057) (7,123)

Reclassification - 57 - (57) -

At 31 December 2018 6,117 142,080 8,941 88,894 246,032

Accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses

At 1 January 2017 446 56,213 - 71,841 128,500

Charge for year - 3,459 - 3,813 7,272

Reversal of impairment loss (102) - - - (102)

Disposals - (41) - (1,901) (1,942)

At 31 December 2017 344 59,631 - 73,753 133,728

Charge for year - 4,232 - 3,816 8,047

Disposals (344) (413) - (5,853) (6,610)

At 31 December 2018 - 63,450 - 71,716 135,166

Carrying value

At 31 December 2018 6,117 78,630 8,941 17,177 110,865

At 31 December 2017 6,037 77,676 2,432 15,224 101,369
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12. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

TEAGASC

Land Buildings
Assets under 
construction

Plant and 
equipment Total

€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000

Cost or valuation

At 1 January 2017 6,381 128,831 1,031 80,672 216,915

Additions - 3,802 1,208 4,722 9,732

Buildings completed - - - - -

Disposals - (49) - (2,181) (2,230)

At 31 December 2017 6,381 132,584 2,239 83,213 224,417

Additions 334 1,008 6,046 5,511 12,899

Buildings completed - 1,039 (1,039) - -

Disposals (598) (412) - (5,575) (6,585)

Reclassification - 57 - (57) -

At 31 December 2018 6,117 134,276 7,246 83,092 230,731

Accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses

At 1 January 2017 446 53,471 - 67,416 121,333

Charge for year - 3,303 - 3,638 6,941

Reversal of impairment loss (102) - - - (102)

Disposals - (41) - (1,893) (1,934)

At 31 December 2017 344 56,733 - 69,161 126,238

Charge for year - 4,024 - 3,605 7,629

Disposals (344) (402) - (5,371) (6,117)

At 31 December 2018 - 60,355 - 67,395 127,750

Carrying value

At 31 December 2018 6,117 73,921 7,246 15,697 102,981

At 31 December 2017 6,037 75,851 2,239 14,052 98,179
 

Certain fixed assets entrusted to Teagasc are protected by statute, and may not be sold.

Teagasc has a total of 55 offices/ centres of which 50 are owned by Teagasc and the remaining 5 are under rental agreements. 
Four of the rental agreements expire between five and ten years and the remaining agreement is a long term lease with the end 
date yet to be determined.



94

TEAGASC CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Disposal of property, plant and equipment

Proceeds/ costs Proceeds/ costs

2018 2017

€'000 €'000

Proceeds from sale of property:

Property sales during year 670 -

Cost of sales (182) -

488 -

Proceeds from sale of other assets 59 104

547 104

Net book value of fixed assets disposed:

Property assets (310) (8)

Other assets (203) (288)

(513) (296)

Gain/ (loss) on disposal of fixed assets 34 (192)

There was no transfer to the Exchequer of asset sales proceeds in 2018.

13. Heritage assets

Group and Teagasc

Period houses in Kildalton College, Ballyhaise College and Oak Park Research Centre are part of the working infrastructure of 
Teagasc, and are as such capitalised on the Statement of Financial Position at original cost.

Certain heritage assets at Johnstown Castle Research Centre, including the castle, Agricultural Museum and walled garden were 
not recognised in the Statement of Financial Position as information on the cost or value of these heritage assets could not 
be obtained at a cost which was commensurate with the benefits to users of the financial statements. These assets are now 
being developed as a tourist and heritage attraction. The development project involves construction of a new visitor centre and 
renovation of the castle which is expected to be operational in 2019.  The centre will be managed and operated by Irish Heritage 
Trust. Construction costs of €4.8m incurred in 2018 have been capitalised as “assets under construction” and on completion all 
construction costs will be depreciated in line with Teagasc’s accounting policy for depreciation of property, plant and equipment.
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14. Investments

Group Teagasc

2018 2017 2018 2017

€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000

Investment in quoted shares 506 265 506 265

Investment in unquoted shares 213 173 214 174

719 438 720 439

Investments in quoted shares Group Teagasc

2018 2017 2018 2017

€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000

Fair value at 1 January 265 264 265 264

Additions 223 - 223 -

Gain on fair value movement in the year 18 1 18 1

Fair value at 31 December 506 265 506 265

Investments in unquoted shares Group Teagasc

2018 2017 2018 2017

Value at acquisition date €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000

At 1 January 173 157 174 158

Additions 40 16 40 16

At 31 December 213 173 214 174

Net book value Group Teagasc

2018 2017 2018 2017

€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000

At 1 January 173 157 174 158

Movement in unquoted shares 40 16 40 16

At 31 December 213 173 214 174
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14. Investments (continued)

Analysed as: Group Teagasc

2018 2017 2018 2017

€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000

Glanbia plc 461 216 461 216

Kerry Group plc 45 49 45 49

Moorepark Technology Limited - - 1 1

Wexford Milk Producers Limited 25 25 25 25

Lakeland Dairies 5 5 5 5

Aurivo 2 2 2 2

Glanbia Co-Op Ltd 14 14 14 14

Carbery Creameries Ltd 69 43 69 43

Barryroe Creameries Ltd 2 1 2 1

Dairygold Co-Op Society Ltd 49 36 49 36

Dairygold Co-Op Society (Revolving fund) 47 47 47 47

719 438 720 439

Details of investments:

Company name Country of 
incorporation

Registered 
number

Number of 
shares

Nominal value 
per share at 
31.12.2018

Dividend 
received

Nature of business 
of company

Glanbia plc Ireland 129933 28,119 €16.40 2018 - €2,995 
2017 - €572

Global nutrition 
company

Kerry Group plc Ireland 111471 522 €86.50 2018 - €271 
2017 - €242

Provider of taste and 
nutrition technologies

Moorepark Technology Ltd Ireland 168270 5,102 €0.13 2018 - €nil 
2017 - €nil

Provision of services 
for R&D

Wexford Milk Producers Ltd Ireland 2640R 24,537 €1.00 2018 - €nil 
2017 - €nil

Milk production and 
supply

Lakeland Dairies Co-
Operative Society Ltd

Ireland 4622R 104,371 €0.05 2018 - €52 
2017 - €52

Milk production and 
supply

Aurivo Co-Operative 
Society Ltd

Ireland 5113R 1,715 €1.00 2018 - €34 
2017 - €34

Milk production and 
supply

Glanbia Co-Operative Ltd Ireland 4928R 13,742 €1.00 2018 - €2,704 
2017 - €1,569

Milk production and 
supply

Kerry Co-Operative Ltd Ireland 3618R 87 €1.25 2018 - €274 
2017 - €239

Milk production and 
supply

Carbery Creameries Ltd Ireland 2899R 19,605 €3.51 2018 - €nil 
2017 - €nil

Milk production and 
supply

Barryroe Co-Operative Ltd Ireland 1736R 2,023 €1.00 2018 - €nil 
2017 - €nil

Milk production and 
supply

Dairygold Co-Operative 
Society Ltd

Ireland 4621R 49,745 €1.00 2018 - €nil 
2017 - €nil

Milk production and 
supply
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14. Investments (continued)

Teagasc has invested €650 in Moorepark Technology Limited and has a 57% holding in the paid up share capital of the company.  

The percentage shareholding in all of the other organisations listed is negligible and does not give Teagasc a controlling interest.

15. Inventories

2018 2017

€'000 €'000

Livestock 4,523 5,138

Farm produce, fertilisers and feeding stocks 566 533

General supplies 176 191

5,265 5,862

Stocks are stated after provision for impairment of €nil (2017: €nil).

Reconciliation of movements in livestock:

2018 2017

€'000 €'000

Balance at start of year 5,138 4,097

Purchases 757 650

Sales (2,768) (2,358)

Births 1,150 1,167

Deaths (163) (222)

Fair value adjustments 409 1,804

Balance at end of year 4,523 5,138

16. Assets held for sale

At 31 December, included in the carrying value of assets are the following assets held for sale:
 

Carrying 
value at 31 
December 

2018

Carrying 
value at 31 
December 

2017

 Note €'000 €'000

Site at Raheen, Co. Limerick - 227

Site at Athenry, Co. Galway - 26

Site at Ballyhaise, Co. Cavan - 1

Kinsealy East, Co. Dublin 540 583

Site at Emsworth, Co. Dublin 77 77

Cottage at Kildalton, Co. Kilkenny -

12 617 914
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17. Receivables

Group Teagasc

2018 2017 2018 2017

€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000

Trade receivables 11,182 9,622 10,714 9,277

Other receivables 170 215 144 194

Accrued operational income 5,800 4,024 5,800 4,024

Accrued Oireachtas grant income 8,979 10,426 8,979 10,426

Prepayments 1,384 2,623 1,368 2,607

VAT and other taxes 95 3 - -

27,610 26,913 27,005 26,528

All amounts included above fall due within one year. 

Trade receivables are stated after provision for impairment of €189,529 (2017: €330,724).

18. Cash and cash equivalents

Group Teagasc

2018 2017 2018 2017

€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000

Cash at bank and in hand 12,145 20,995 10,209 19,410

Short-term deposits 15,500 - 15,500 -

27,645 20,995 25,709 19,410
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19. Payables – amounts falling due within one year

Group Teagasc

2018 2017 2018 2017

€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000

Trade payables 1,766 1,446 1,691 1,334

Other payables and accruals 12,723 14,585 12,327 14,500

Legal provisions 134 236 134 236

PAYE/ PRSI 2,379 2,250 2,362 2,234

Value added tax 209 128 209 111

Withholding tax/ RCT 111 242 111 233

Other payroll deductions 1,480 1,258 1,480 1,258

18,802 20,145 18,314 19,906

Payables for taxation and social welfare included above 2,710 2,633 2,693 2,590

Included in the other payables and accruals of €12.33m are: professional fees including legal and analytical services €2.05m, wages 
and salaries and other employee costs €3.08m (including an annual leave accrual of €2.18m), repairs and maintenance €1.88m, 
equipment and capital items €1.41m, grants/ seminars €0.52m, ICT costs €1.07m, farm running costs €0.53m, general operating 
costs including utilities €0.89m, other accruals €0.38m, travel and subsistence €0.25m and public relations and advertising €0.20m. 

The payment of trade payables varies between on demand and thirty days. Prompt payment interest and compensation of €55,566 
was payable on trade payables in 2018.

PAYE/ PRSI, value added tax and withholding tax are subject to terms of relevant legislation. Interest accrues on late payment of 
taxes in line with the terms of relevant legislation. No interest was due at the end of the financial year for late payment of taxes.

Other amounts included with payables not covered by specific note disclosures are unsecured, interest free and repayable on 
demand.
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20. Deferred income due within one year

Teagasc carries out public funded research in accordance with contracts with other State Institutions, principally the Department 
of Agriculture, Food and the Marine. Grants in respect of such research are taken into account as income when the corresponding 
expenditure has been incurred under each contract. At 31 December the source and amount of deferred income in respect of 
research and other projects was as follows:

Group Teagasc

2018 2017 2018 2017

Note €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000

Department of Agriculture, Food and the Marine - 
advance for FIRM projects 4 2,335 1,833 2,335 1,833

Department of Agriculture, Food and the Marine - 
advance for Stimulus projects 4 2,018 2,538 2,018 2,538

Department of Agriculture, Food and the Marine - 
Prepared Consumer Foods Centre 4 2,572 - 2,572 -

Enterprise Ireland 6 3,146 1,738 3,146 1,738

Environmental Protection Agency 645 580 645 580

Science Foundation Ireland 6 5,074 3,213 5,074 3,213

European Union 5 7,331 4,720 7,331 4,720

General research and other deferrals 1,260 1,143 1,161 1,009

Course fee deferrals 1,408 2,008 1,408 2,008

Amounts received in advance for work associated with 
the completion of sale of land at Athenry 510 1,114 510 1,114

26,299 18,887 26,200 18,753

21. Deferred income due after more than one year

Group Teagasc

2018 2017 2018 2017

€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000

At beginning of year 468 612 175 272

Released to income and expenditure account (47) (47) - -

Recategorised  to within one year (175) (272) (175) (272)

Course fee deferrals 108 175 108 175

At end of year 354 468 108 175
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22. Provision for liabilities

Deferred tax Group Teagasc

2018 2017 2018 2017

€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000

At beginning of year 110 101 - -

Charged to income and expenditure account 9 9 - -

At end of year 119 110 - -

Components of deferred taxation Group Teagasc

2018 2017 2018 2017

€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000

Unutilised trading losses (9) - - -

Accelerated capital allowance 128 110 - -

119 110 - -
 
23. Capital Account

The balance on this account represents the unamortised value of funds used to purchase property, plant and equipment. 

24. Revenue reserves

The revenue reserves represent cumulative comprehensive income recognised as at reporting date.

25. Non-controlling interest

The non-controlling interest comprises the other shareholders' equity investment together with their capital contribution to expand 
facilities in Moorepark Technology Limited.

26. Leases

Operating leases
At 31 December Teagasc had future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases as follows:

Group Teagasc

2018 2017 2018 2017

€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000

Leases which expire:

Within one year 686 584 686 584

Between two and five years 1,314 1,439 1,314 1,439

After five years 1,015 1,067 1,015 1,067

3,015 3,090 3,015 3,090
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27. Reconciliation of surplus to cash flow from operating activities

2018 2017

€’000 €’000

Surplus for the year 807 2,444

Depreciation expense 8,047 7,272

Reversal of impairment losses on property, plant and equipment - (102)

Fair value adjustments on biological assets (409) (1,804)

Fair value adjustments on investments (18) (1)

(Gain)/ loss on disposal of tangible fixed assets (34) 192

Interest paid                77 54

Interest income (15) (18)

Transfer to capital account 4,802 2,597

Total operating cash flows before movements in working capital 13,257 10,634

Decrease in inventory 1,007 760

(Increase) in receivables (697) (3,272)

Increase in payables 5,956 2,032

Cash flow from operating activities 19,523 10,154

28. Private colleges

Teagasc provides support to three private colleges, Gurteen Agricultural College, Mountbellew Agricultural College and Pallaskenry 
Agricultural College, as follows:

2018 2017

€'000 €'000

Grants to private colleges 2,921 2,959

Salary costs of staff seconded to private colleges (included in the total pay expenditure in
Note 7 above) 685 1,023

External service provider costs for teaching services provided to private colleges (included
in the general operating expenditure in Note 8 above) 96 122

3,702 4,104

In addition to grants outlined above Teagasc provided workbooks to private colleges to the value of €69,850 (2017: €75,400).

29. Commitments

Capital commitments
Teagasc had capital commitments outstanding at 31 December 2018 amounting to €2.727m which relate to construction of 
buildings and facilities at Johnstown Castle €2.321m, Moorepark €0.376m and Clonakilty €0.030m (2017: €1.103m).

Grant commitments
Teagasc had grant commitments outstanding at 31 December 2018 amounting to €10.817m which relate to Walsh Fellows 
€6.296m, Private College Grants €3.145m and Other Grants €1.376m (2017: €10.974m).
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30. Authority members – disclosure of transactions

The Authority has adopted procedures in accordance with the guidelines issued in 2009 by the Department of Finance in relation 
to the disclosure of interest by Authority members and the Authority has adhered to these procedures. There were no transactions 
in the year in relation to the Authority's activities in which the Authority members were involved.

31. Contingent liabilities

The Authority has made provision in the financial statements reflecting its best estimate of the liability arising. The Authority is of the 
view that there are no contingent liabilities. 

32. Related party transactions

The following transactions were carried out with related parties:

Sales of goods and services:

Group Teagasc

2018 2017 2018 2017

€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000

Subsidiary - - 10 20

- - 10 20

Purchases of goods and services:

Group Teagasc

2018 2017 2018 2017

€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000

Subsidiary - - 517 727

- - 517 727

Payable to related parties:

Group Teagasc

2018 2017 2018 2017

€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000

Subsidiary 22 62 22 62

22 62 22 62

The receivable and payables arise mainly from sales and purchase transactions, respectively.  The receivables and payables are 
unsecured in nature and bear no interest.  No provisions are held against receivables from related parties during the year (2017: 
€nil). 

Under the terms of the Moorepark Technology Promoter’s Agreement, Teagasc has undertaken to provide from its own resources 
specified staff requirements to include the Manager, the Company Secretary and one technician.  During 2018 Teagasc made a 
capital contribution of €2.560m to Moorepark Technology Limited towards the capital expansion of the facilities.
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33. Financial instruments

The Group and Teagasc have the following financial instruments:

Group Teagasc

2018 2017 2018 2017

€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000

Financial assets that are equity instruments measured at 
fair value through consolidated statement of income and 
expenditure

Listed non-current asset investments    506 265 506 265

Unlisted non-current asset investments 213 173 214 174

Financial assets

Trade receivables 11,182 9,622 10,714 9,277

Other receivables 170 215 144 194

Cash in hand (including short-term deposits)      27,645     20,995 25,709 19,410

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

Trade payables   1,766 1,446 1,691 1,335

Other payables      12,723     14,585 12,327 14,500

34. Events after the reporting period

There have been no significant events, outside the ordinary course of business, affecting the Group since 31 December 2018.

35. Approval of the financial statements

The Authority approved the financial statements on 03 April 2019.
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